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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Case: 1:20—mc-00111

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION Misc. Case No. Assigned To: Cooper, Christopher R.

Assign. Date : 11/9/2020
Description: Misc.

PETITION OF THE FEDERAL TRADE

600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20580,

Petitioner, COMMISSION FOR AN ORDER
ENFORCING CIVIL INVESTIGATIVE
V. DEMAND
STEPHEN K. BANNON
210 A Street, N.E. REDACTED VERSION OF DOCUMENT
Washington, D.C. 20002, SOUGHT TO BE FILED

TEMPORARILY UNDER SEAL

Respondent.

Petitioner, the Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”), by its designated attorneys
and pursuant to Section 20 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C.
88 57b-1(e), (h), petitions this Court for an order requiring Respondent, Stephen K. Bannon
(“Bannon”), to appear and testify in response to the Civil Investigative Demand (“CID”) issued
by the Commission on September 25, 2019. The CID seeks oral testimony from Bannon
relevant to an ongoing Commission law enforcement investigation.!  Specifically, the
Commission issued the CID to determine, among other things, whether Bannon may be held
individually liable for the deceptive conduct of Cambridge Analytica, LLC—the subject of an
administrative law enforcement action brought by the Commission. See Cambridge Analytica,
LLC, Docket No. 9389, 2019 WL 6724446 (FTC Nov. 25, 2019) (opinion of the Commission

granting complaint counsel’s motion for summary decision.).

1 While the CID contains several document requests and interrogatories to Bannon, the
Commission does not seek any relief as to those specifications through the instant petition.
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Bannon did not petition to quash or limit the CID. After several postponements due to
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, Bannon’s appearance date for the investigational hearing was

set for September 29, 2020. But the day before the scheduled investigation hearing, Bannon’s

counsel informe |

Therefore, the Commission respectfully seeks judicial enforcement of the CID.

The Declaration of Linda Holleran Kopp, which verifies the allegations of this Petition, is
attached hereto as Petition Exhibit (“Pet. Ex.”) 1. The Commission also submits the following
additional exhibits:

Pet. EX. 2: Civil Investigative Demand to Stephen K. Bannon, Dated September 24,
2019;

Pet. EX. 3: Affidavits of Process Servers, Dated November 15, 2019;
Pet. EX. 4: November 21, 2019 Letter from Maneesha Mithal to Alex Spiro;
Pet. EX. 5: August 27, 2020 Letter from Maneesha Mithal to Alex Spiro;

Pet. Ex. 6: Unsealed Indictment against Stephen K. Bannon in United States v.
Kolfage et al., 20-CR-412 (S.D.N.Y.);

Pet. EX. 7: September 3, 2020 Letter from William Burck to Linda Holleran Kopp;

Pet. EX. 8: September 4, 2020 Email from Linda Holleran Kopp to Allison McGuire,
Alex Spiro, and William Burck;

Pet. EX. 9: September 15, 2020 Letter from William Burck to Linda Holleran Kopp;

Pet. Ex. 10:  September 22, 2020 Email from Linda Holleran Kopp to Allison McGuire,
Alex Spiro, and William Burck;

Pet. Ex. 11:  September 28, 2020 Letter from William Burck to Linda Holleran Kopp;
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PETITION ALLEGATIONS

In support of its Petition, the Commission alleges as follows:
The Parties

1. The Commission is an administrative agency of the United States government,
organized and existing pursuant to the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq. The Commission is
authorized and directed by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), to prohibit, inter alia,
“unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce.”

2. In order to determine whether violations of Section 5(a) may have occurred,
Section 3 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 43, empowers the Commission to prosecute any inquiry
necessary to its duties in any part of the United States; Section 6 of the Act, 15 U.S.C. § 46,
empowers the Commission to investigate the business and conduct of any person, partnership, or
corporation engaged in or whose business affects commerce; Section 20 of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 57b-1, empowers the Commission to require by CID the provision of oral testimony,
documents, or other information relating to any Commission law enforcement investigation.

3. Respondent Stephen K. Bannon is the former Vice President and board member
of Cambridge Analytica, LLC. Bannon is an individual who resides and/or transacts business in
Washington, District of Columbia. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), { 6.

Jurisdiction and Venue

4. This Court has jurisdiction to enforce the Commission’s duly issued CIDs,
including the CID issued to Bannon, under Sections 20(e) and (h) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.
88 57b-1(e), (h). Section 20(e) provides in pertinent part:

Whenever any person fails to comply with any civil investigative demand duly

served upon him under this section, or whenever . . . such person refuses to

surrender such material, the Commission, through such officers or attorneys as it
may designate, may file, in the district court of the United States for any judicial
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district in which such person resides, is found, or transacts business, and serve
upon such person, a petition for an order of such court for the enforcement of this
section.

5. Venue is proper in this judicial district under Section 20(e) of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 57b-1(e), because Bannon resides, is found, and transacts business in this judicial
district. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 6.

The Commission’s Investigation

6. On July 22, 2019, the Commission filed an administrative complaint against
Cambridge Analytica, a now-defunct data analytics and consulting company that provided voter
profiling and marketing services, alleging deceptive conduct in violation of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 45(a). See Cambridge Analytica, LLC, 2019 WL 6724446, at *1-*2. In 2014,
Cambridge Analytica launched a software application on the Facebook platform called the
“GSRApp” to collect Facebook data and survey responses that would be used to predict the
users’ personality traits as well as their political enthusiasm, political orientation, frequency in
voting, consistency in voting for the same political party, and views on particular controversial
issues. Id. at *3-*5. Cambridge Analytica used the data for voter-profiling and targeted
advertising purposes. Id. at *5-*6. The Commission’s complaint alleged that Cambridge
Analytica employed false and deceptive tactics to harvest personal information from tens of
millions of Facebook users through the GSRApp. Id.; see also id. at *3 (discussing complaint
allegations). After further proceedings, the Commission determined that Cambridge Analytica
violated the FTC Act by, among other things, falsely representing that the GSRApp did not
collect any personally identifiable information from Facebook users who interacted with the
GSRApp. Id. at *10-*11.

7. The Commission also sought to bring culpable individuals to account for their

involvement in Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive scheme. Aleksandr Kogan, the developer of
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GSRApp, and Alexander Nix, the former Chief Executive Officer of Cambridge Analytica,
settled allegations that they violated the FTC Act in their individual capacity for their respective
roles in the scheme. See Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix, Docket No. C-4693, 2019 WL
7168922 (FTC Dec. 18, 2019) (Commission’s final order against Kogan); Aleksandr Kogan and
Alexander Nix, Docket No. C-4694, 2019 WL 7168925 (FTC Dec. 18, 2019) (Commission’s
final order against Nix).

8. Because Bannon served as Vice President and board member of Cambridge
Analytica during the relevant time, the Commission opened an additional investigation into
whether Bannon may be held personally liable for his role in Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive
scheme. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 9. Relatedly, the investigation seeks to probe Bannon’s
knowledge of questions unresolved by the Commission’s proceeding against Cambridge
Analytica investigation: What happened to consumers’ improperly harvested Facebook data?
And with whom has it been shared? Id.

9. As part of this investigation, on September 24, 2019, the Commission issued the
CID at issue to Bannon. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 10. The CID defined the *“subject” of the
Commission’s investigation as whether “Bannon’s practices regarding the collection and use of
consumers’ information from Facebook were deceptive or unfair in violation of the [Federal
Trade Commission] Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and whether a Commission action to obtain monetary
relief would be in the public interest.” 1d.; Pet. Ex. 2 (CID) at 4.

10.  The CID was issued pursuant to Commission Resolution No. 1823036, which
authorizes the use of compulsory process under Section 20 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 857b-1:

[t]Jo determine whether unnamed persons, partnerships, corporations, or others are

engaged in, or may have engaged in, deceptive or unfair acts or practices related

to consumer privacy and/or data security, including but not limited to the
collection, acquisition, use, disclosure, security, storage, retention, or disposition
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of consumer information, in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5 of
the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 45, as amended.

Pet. Ex. 2 (CID) at 14; Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 11. The CID was signed by Chairman Joseph
J. Simons, under authority delegated by the Commission in Section 2.7(a) of its Rules of
Practice, 16 C.F.R § 2.7(a), and served by the Commission’s Secretary pursuant to the
Commission’s Rules. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 11; Pet. Ex. 2 (CID) at 1.

11. Bannon sought to evade service—including one attempt that made the local
political press. See Nancy Scola, Federal agency tries to serve Steve Bannon a subpoena,
PoLiTico (Sept. 25, 2019), https://www.politico.com/news/2019/09/25/steve-bannon-ftc-
subpoena-cambridge-analytica-001022. But the Commission finally succeeded in personally
serving the CID on Bannon on November 14, 2019. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), { 12; Pet. Ex. 3
(Process Server Affs.) at 1-2.

The Commission’s Accommodation of Bannon’s Repeated Requests for Extension of the
Investigational Hearing Date

12.  After Bannon was personally served with the CID, Commission staff and
Bannon’s counsel met, conferred, and communicated regarding Bannon’s rolling production of
information and documents in response to the CID. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 13. Bannon did
not file an administrative petition to limit or quash the CID, including the demand for an
investigational hearing. Id., 1 14.

13.  On November 21, 2019, Maneesha Mithal, Associate Director for the Division of
Privacy and Identity Protection at the Commission (“DPIP Associate Director”), issued a letter
formally modifying and extending the appearance date in the CID for Bannon’s investigational
hearing pursuant to the Commission’s Rule of Practice 2.7(1), 16 C.F.R. § 2.7(l). Pet. Ex. 1

(Kopp Decl.), 1 15; Pet. Ex. 4 (11/21/19 Mithal Letter).
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14. From January through February 2020, Bannon answered interrogatories and
produced documents on a rolling basis pursuant to the specifications contained in the CID. Pet.
Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 16.

15. Between January and August 2020, Commission staff and Bannon’s counsel met
and conferred to find a mutually convenient date for Bannon’s investigational hearing. Due to
concerns related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the DPIP Associate Director extended the
appearance date for Bannon’s investigational hearing on several occasions. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp
Decl.), 1 17.

16.  On August 27, 2020, following a meet and confer between Commission staff and
Bannon’s counsel, the DPIP Associate Director issued a letter setting a September 29, 2020
appearance date for Bannon’s investigational hearing. Pet. Ex. 5 (8/27/20 Mithal Letter).
Although Commission staff offered to conduct Bannon’s investigational hearing remotely due to
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, Bannon’s counsel rejected that offer, preferring instead to
have the investigational hearing conducted in-person. 1d.; Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), { 18.

Bannon’s Refusal to Appear for his Investigational Hearing

17.  On August 20, 2020, an indictment charging Bannon for his role in defrauding
donors in connection with an online crowdfunding campaign, known as “We Build the Wall,”
was unsealed by a federal court in the Southern District of New York. See Press Release, U.S.
DEP’T OF JUSTICE, U.S. ATT’Y’S OFFICE, S. DisT. oF N.Y., Leaders Of ‘We Build The Wall’
Online Fundraising Campaign Charged With Defrauding Hundreds Of Thousands Of Donors
(Aug. 20, 2020), https://www.justice.gov/usao-sdny/pr/leaders-we-build-wall-online-fundraising-
campaign-charged-defrauding-hundreds-thousands (last visited Oct. 21, 2020). See also Pet. Ex.

6 (Bannon Indictment).
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18.  On September 3, 2020, Bannon’s counsel sent a letter to Commission staff

caiming tr:
I . 7 (91320 Burck Letter) Pet

Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 20.

19.  The following day, Commission staff emailed Bannon’s counsel to request a meet
and confer regarding the September 3 letter. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), { 21; Pet. Ex. 8 (9/4/20
Kopp Email).

20.  On September 10, 2020, Commission staff and Bannon’s counsel met and
conferred regarding the September 3 letter. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 22. Commission staff
inquired about the basis of Bannon’s objection to sitting for an investigational hearing in light of
the lack of overlap between the Commission’s investigation and the criminal indictment. Id.
Bannon’s counsel asserted that federal prosecutors could seek to admit Bannon’s testimony to
the Commission against him under Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b); therefore, Bannon would
assert his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination and not testify about anything
substantive at the investigational hearing. 1d. At no point during the meet and confer did
Bannon’s counsel communicate that Bannon outright refused to attend the investigational
hearing. Id. To the contrary, Bannon’s counsel indicated that Bannon could attend the scheduled
investigational hearing and simply refuse to answer questions. Id.

21.  On September 15, 2020, Bannon’s counsel sent a letter to Commission staff

following-up on the September 10 meet and confer. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 23; Pet. Ex. 9

(9/15/20 Burck Letter). In the September 15 letter, Bannon’s counse! ||| GG
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N " . 0 01520
Burck Letter) at 1. Bannon’s counsel also claimed tha‘r_

_ Id. at 2. Like the September 10 meet and confer, the September 15 letter

e —]
I
Id. at 2 (emphasis added); see also Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), § 23.

22. On September 22, 2020, Commission staff responded to the September 15 letter,
disputing counsel’s characterizations of the September 10 meet and confer. Commission staff
reiterated its position that, to the extent Bannon intends to invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege
against self-incrimination, he must do so on a question-by-question basis at the mvestigational

hearing. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), § 24; Pet. Ex. 10 (9/22/20 Kopp Email).

23. On September 28, 2020, at 2:55 p.m. eastern daylight time, Bannon’s counsel

sent a letter to Commission staff advising that Bannon ‘_
Ex. 11 (9/28/20 Burck Letter). Bannon’s counsel msisted that Bannon _
I . 11 (925/20 Burck et

24.  Bannon’s failwre to comply with the CID burdens the Commission’s

investigation, forces the Commission to expend additional public resources, prevents the
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Commission from completing its investigation in a timely manner, and from determining
whether Bannon should be held personally liable for his role in Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive
scheme. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 26.

25. Further delays in the Commission’s investigation caused by Bannon’s failure to
appear for an investigational hearing are contrary to the public interest. Should the Commission
determine that Bannon has violated the FTC Act, the Commission is likely to bring an
enforcement action and seek an order—Ilikely modeled after the orders against Messrs. Kogan
and Nix for their respective roles in Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive scheme—to protect
consumers from harm arising from those violations. For example, the Commission may seek
deletion of any data collected from consumers under false pretenses, thereby mitigating harm
from such collection. Accordingly, a significant delay in the Commission’s investigation and
any potential enforcement action arising therefrom will have the effect of delaying the important
consumer protections that the Commission may seek following the completion of its
investigation. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.),  27.

26.  Additionally, any further delays in discovering additional information about
where the deceptively obtained Facebook profile data may be located, or with whom it may have
been shared, would further harm consumers. Because the deceptively obtained Facebook profile
data pertains to tens of millions of consumers’ stable personality traits, and may allow entities to
target the consumers or try to influence them in ways that would be difficult for the consumers to
recognize, any further delays that would allow the continued use of this data harm consumers.
Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 28.

217. No previous application for the relief sought herein has been made to this Court or

any other. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 29.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission invokes the aid of this Court and prays:

1. For the immediate issuance of an order directing Bannon to appear and show

cause why he should not comply in full with the CID by appearing—either in-person or remotely

via videoconference—for an investigational hearing before Commission staff;

2. For a prompt determination of this matter and an order requiring Bannon to

comply in full with the CID by appearing—either in-person or remotely via videoconference—

for an investigational hearing before Commission staff within ten (10) days of such order, or at

such later date as may be established by the Commission; and

3. For other such relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Dated: November 9, 2020

Respectfully submitted,

ALDEN F. ABBOTT
General Counsel

JAMES REILLY DOLAN
Principal Deputy General Counsel

MICHELE ARINGTON
Assistant General Counsel for Trial Court
Litigation

s/ Linda Holleran Kopp
LINDA HOLLERAN KOPP (472355)
BRIAN BERGGREN (Appearing pursuant to
LCVR 83.2(e))

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
600 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.,

Mail Stop CC-8232

Washington, D.C. 20580

Tel: 202-326-2267 (Kopp);
202-326-3232 (Berggren)

Attorneys for Petitioner
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION Misc. Case No.
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20580, MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND

AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF

Petitioner, PETITION OF THE FEDERAL TRADE

COMMISSION FOR AN ORDER

V. ENFORCING CIVIL INVESTIGATIVE

DEMAND

STEPHEN K. BANNON
210 A Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20002, REDACTED VERSION OF DOCUMENT

SOUGHT TO BE FILED

Respondent. TEMPORARILY UNDER SEAL

INTRODUCTION

The Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”) seeks an order requiring Respondent,
Stephen K. Bannon (“Bannon”), to appear for an investigational hearing in compliance with a Civil
Investigative Demand (“CID”) the Commission issued to him on September 24, 2019. The
Commission is investigating whether Bannon, formerly an officer of Cambridge Analytica, LLC,
violated Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. 845, in connection
with Cambridge Analytica’s operation of a deceptive scheme that improperly harvested Facebook
user profile information of tens of millions of American consumers.*

Bannon raised no objection to the CID, including the demand for his testimony at an
investigational hearing—which was first scheduled for March 11, 2020, but postponed due to

concerns related to the COVID-19 pandemic to September 29, 2020 (at Bannon’s counsel’s

L All references to “Pet. Ex.” are to exhibits attached to Petition of the Federal Trade Commission for
an Order Enforcing Civil Investigative Demand filed concurrently herewith.
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insistence, an in-person hearing). When the time came, however, Bannon refused to appear. He
claims that his recent indictment on unrelated money laundering and fraud charges associated with
the alleged misuse of charitable donations entitles him to disregard the Commission’s CID because
he has a Fifth Amendment right not to incriminate himself.

Bannon’s attempt to stall the Commission’s investigation is unjustified and should not be
countenanced. Courts have long recognized that a witness, like Bannon, cannot refuse to attend a
deposition under a blanket assertion of the Fifth Amendment. Accordingly, this Court should grant
the Commission’s Petition and order Bannon to comply with the CID by appearing—either in-person
or remotely via videoconference—for an investigational hearing before Commission staff.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

The FTC Act empowers the Commission to issue CIDs—a type of administrative
subpoena—to “any person [who] . . . may have any information, relevant to unfair or deceptive acts
or practices in or affecting commerce.” 15 U.S.C. 8 57b-1(c)(1). If a CID recipient fails to comply,
the Commission may petition the district court “in which such person resides, is found, or transacts
business” for an order enforcing the CID. 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(e). Bannon resides, is found, and/or
transacts business in the District of Columbia. Because Bannon has failed to comply in full with the
Commission’s CID, this Court is empowered to issue an order directing Bannon to show cause why
the Court should not grant the instant Petition and to enter its own order enforcing the CID and
requiring Bannon to appear at an investigational hearing.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The Commission’s Administrative Action Against Cambridge Analytica For Its
Improper Collection Of Personally Identifiable Facebook Profile Data Through
Deceptive Means

Cambridge Analytica—which is now defunct—previously operated as a data analytics and
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consulting company that provided voter profiling and marketing services for political campaigns and
commercial clients. Cambridge Analytica, LLC, Docket No. 9389, 2019 WL 6724446, at *2-*3
(FTC Nov. 25, 2019). In 2014, Cambridge Analytica launched a software application on the
Facebook platform—called the “GSRApp”—to collect Facebook data and predict users’ personality
traits that could then be used for micro-targeting and marketing purposes. Id. at *3-*5.

The Commission opened an investigation of Cambridge Analytica following public reports in
March 2018 that the company had improperly obtained personally identifiable Facebook data for tens
of millions of American consumers. InJuly 2019, the Commission filed an administrative complaint
against Cambridge Analytica. In November 2019, following a motion for summary judgment, the
Commission determined that Cambridge Analytica had obtained consumers’ Facebook data by false
and deceptive means, in violation of the FTC Act. Id. at *10-*11. Specifically, the Commission
found that Cambridge Analytica falsely represented that the GSRApp— which asked Facebook users
to take a personality test as well as to answer questions related to their political enthusiasm, political
orientation, frequency in voting, consistency in voting for the same political party, and views on
particular controversial issues—did not collect any personally identifiable information. Id. at *3-*5,
*10-*11. At the point in the survey where participants were asked to consent to having their
Facebook profile data collected, participants were told:

In this part, we would like to download some of your Facebook data using our

Facebook app. We want you to know that we will NOT download your name or any

other identifiable information—we are interested in your demographics and likes.
Id. at *6. In truth, the GSRApp collected personally identifiable information from the survey
participants and their Facebook “Friends,” including their Facebook ID (a persistent, unique
identifier that connects the user to their Facebook profile), gender, birthdate, and location. 1d. This

data was then used to match the individual participants—and tens of millions of their Facebook
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“Friends”—uwith their voter records and other data provided by Cambridge Analytica. Id. at *5-*6.
In total, through its use of the GSRApp, Cambridge Analytica harvested Facebook data from
approximately 50 to 65 million of the participants’ Facebook “Friends,” including at least 30 million
United States consumers. Id. at *6.

In addition to proceeding against Cambridge Analytica, the Commission also brought, and
settled, administrative charges against two individuals for their roles in Cambridge Analytica’s
deceptive scheme: Aleksandr Kogan, the developer of GSRApp, and Alexander Nix, the former
Chief Executive Officer of Cambridge Analytica. See Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix, Docket
No. C-4693, 2019 WL 7168922 (FTC Dec. 18, 2019) (Commission’s final order against Kogan);
Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix, Docket No. C-4694, 2019 WL 7168925 (FTC Dec. 18, 2019)
(Commission’s final order against Nix).

B. The Commission’s Investigation Of Bannon’s Role In Cambridge Analytica

Because Bannon served as Vice President and board member of Cambridge Analytica during
the time that it carried out this deceptive scheme, the Commission opened an investigation into
whether Bannon also bore responsibility for Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive harvesting of
consumers’ Facebook data. Public reports suggested that he did. See, e.g., Carole Cadwalladr,
‘l made Steve Bannon’s Psychological Warfare Tool’: Meet the Data War Whistleblower,
THE GUARDIAN (Mar. 18, 2018), https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/mar/17/data-war-
whistleblower-christopher-wylie-faceook-nix-bannon-trump. Accordingly, on September 24, 2019,
the Commission issued a CID to Bannon. Notwithstanding Bannon’s repeated efforts to evade

service—including one attempt that made the local political press>—the Commission succeeded in

2 Nancy Scola, Federal agency tries to serve Steve Bannon a subpoena, PoLITICO (Sept. 25, 2019),
https://www.politico.com/news/2019/09/25/steve-bannon-ftc-subpoena-cambridge-analytica-001022.
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personally serving the CID on Bannon on November 14, 2019. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 12; Pet.
Ex. 3 (Process Server Affs.) at 1-2.

Bannon did not file an administrative petition to limit or quash the CID, including the
demand for an investigational hearing. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), § 14. Between January and
August 2020, Commission staff and Bannon’s counsel met and conferred to find a mutually
convenient date for Bannon’s investigational hearing so that the Commission could probe, among
other things, Bannon’s individual responsibility for Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive conduct as well
as his knowledge about any possible continued use of the GSRApp data. 1d., 119, 17. Due to both
scheduling issues and concerns related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the Associate Director
for the Commission’s Division of Privacy and Identity Protection (“DPIP Associate Director”)
formally extended the appearance date for Bannon’s investigational hearing on several occasions. Id.
at§17.

On August 27, 2020, following a meet and confer between Commission staff and Bannon’s
counsel, the DPIP Associate Director issued a letter setting a September 29, 2020 appearance date for
Bannon’s investigational hearing. Pet. Ex. 5 (8/27/20 Mithal Letter). Although Commission staff
offered to conduct Bannon’s investigational hearing remotely due to the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic, Bannon’s counsel rejected that offer, preferring instead to have the investigational hearing
conducted in-person. 1d.; Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 18.

C. Bannon’s Refusal To Appear For An Investigational Hearing Due To An
Unrelated Criminal Indictment

On August 20, 2020, an indictment charging Bannon for his role in defrauding donors in
connection with an online crowdfunding campaign, known as “We Build the Wall,” was unsealed by

a federal court in the Southern District of New York. See Press Release, Leaders Of “We Build The
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Wall’ Online Fundraising Campaign Charged With Defrauding Hundreds Of Thousands Of Donors,
U.S. DEP’T oOF JusTicE, U.S. ATT’Y’S OFfrFICE, S. DisT. oF N.Y. (Aug. 20, 2020),
https://www.justice.gov/usao-sdny/pr/leaders-we-build-wall-online-fundraising-campaign-charged-
defrauding-hundreds-thousands (last visited Oct. 21, 2020). On its face, however, the criminal
indictment has no overlap with the Commission’s investigation. The criminal indictment involves a
different entity (i.e., an online crowdfunding campaign, not Cambridge Analytica); different conduct
atamuch later date (i.e., alleged wire fraud and money laundering of crowdfunding contributions in
2018 through 2020, not misleading consumers to obtain personally identifiable Facebook profile
information in 2014); and different alleged victims (i.e., donors to the crowdfunding campaign, not
Facebook users). Compare Pet. Ex. 6 (Bannon Indictment) with Pet Ex. 2 (CID) at 4-5. Indeed, the
only “overlap” between the indictment and the Commission’s investigation appears to be Bannon
himself.

Notwithstanding the lack of overlap between the Commission’s investigation and the

criminal indictment, Bannon’s counsel informed Commission staff on September 3, 2020, that

I <t o< 9 (9/15/20 Burck Letter) at 2; Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.),

1 23. On September 28, 2020—the day before the scheduled investigational hearing—Bannon’s
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counsel informed Commission staff in writing that Bannon || G
I - ©. 11 (517970 Btk Lete

ARGUMENT

. The CID For An Investigational Hearing Is Lawful, Seeks Relevant Testimony, And
Is Not Unduly Burdensome

A. Standards For Enforcement Of Agency Process

The standards for the judicial enforcement of administrative compulsory process have long
been settled in this Circuit: “[T]he court’s role in a proceeding to enforce an administrative subpoena
is a strictly limited one.” FTC v. Texaco, Inc., 555 F.2d 862, 871-72 (D.C. Cir. 1977) (en banc)
(citing Endicott Johnson v. Perkins, 317 U.S. 501, 509 (1943)); see also United States v. Morton Salt
Co., 338 U.S. 632, 652 (1950). And “while the court’s function is “neither minor nor ministerial,’
the scope of issues which may be litigated in an enforcement proceeding must be narrow, because of
the important governmental interest in the expeditious investigation of possible unlawful activity.”
Texaco, 555 F.2d at 872 (quoting Oklahoma Press Publ’g Co. v. Walling, 327 U.S. 186, 217 n.57
(1946)); accord FTC v. Anderson, 631 F.2d 741, 744-45 (D.C. Cir. 1979).

Like any administrative agency, the Commission has broad authority to “investigate merely
on suspicion that the law is being violated, or even just because it wants assurance that it is not.”
Morton Salt Co., 338 U.S at 642-43. A district court must enforce agency investigative process so
long as “the inquiry is within the authority of the agency, the demand is not too indefinite and the
information sought is reasonably relevant.” See Texaco, 555 F.2d at 872 (quoting Morton Salt, 338
U.S. at 652). In making this determination, the agency’s own appraisal of relevancy must be
accepted so long as it is not “obviously wrong.” FTC v. Invention Submission Corp., 965 F.2d 1086,

1089 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (citing FTC v. Carter, 636 F.2d 781, 787-88 (D.C. Cir. 1980)).

- 70f 16 -



Case 1:20-mc-00111-CRC Document 1-1 Filed 11/09/20 Page 8 of 16

Proceedings to enforce administrative investigative subpoenas and civil investigative
demands are entitled to summary disposition. They are special statutory matters cognizable under
Fed. R. Civ. P. 81(a)(5), and are properly instituted by a petition and order to show cause (rather than
by a complaint and summons). See, e.g., FTC v. MacArthur, 532 F.2d 1135, 1141-42 (D.C. Cir.
1976). And they are summary in nature—‘“discovery is improper in a summary subpoena
enforcement proceeding.” Carter, 636 F.2d at 789 (quoting United States v. Exxon Corp., 628 F.2d
70, 77 n.7 (D.C. Cir. 1980)); accord Invention Submission, 965 F.2d at 1091.

As described in more detail below, all the standards governing enforcement of the
Commission’s compulsory process have been satisfied. The Commission had the authority to issue
the CID to Bannon, the testimony sought from Bannon is plainly relevant to the Commission’s
investigation, and compliance with the investigational hearing demand does not impose an undue
burden. Because Bannon cannot provide any valid justifications for his refusal to comply with the
CID, it must be enforced.

B. The CID Is Within The Commission’s Authority And Was Properly Issued
According To All Administrative Prerequisites

Bannon has not disputed that the CID is within the Commission’s authority. The
Commission lawfully issued the CID as part of an investigation into whether Bannon, through his
role at and involvement with Cambridge Analytica, has committed violations of Section 5 of the
FTC Act, 15U.S.C. § 45. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 113, 9-10; Pet. Ex. 2 (CID) at 4. Inso doing, the
Commission acted under a valid agency resolution authorizing the issuance of compulsory process to
investigate unfair or deceptive acts or practices relating to consumer privacy and/or data security.

Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 11; Pet. Ex. 2 (CID) at 14 (attaching a “Resolution Directing Use Of
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Compulsory Process in Nonpublic Investigation Of Acts And Practices Related To Consumer
Privacy And/Or Data Security™).

The Commission properly issued the CID pursuant to Section 20 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.
8 57b-1, which authorizes the Commission to issue civil investigative demands “[w]henever the
Commission has reason to believe that any person may be in possession, custody, or control of any
documentary material or tangible things, or may have any information, relevant to unfair or deceptive
acts or practices . ...” 15 U.S.C. 8 57b-1(c)(1); see also Pet. Ex. 2 (CID) at 1, 14. The CID was
issued consistent with all governing administrative prerequisites. See Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 11 10-
12; 15 U.S.C. 88 57b-1(c)(2), (c)(3), (c)(7), (i) (requirements for form, content, and service of civil
investigative demands); accord 16 C.F.R. § 2.7(a), (b). The Commission also personally served
Bannon with the CID on November 14, 2019. Id., 1 12; Pet. Ex. 3 (Process Server Affs.) at 1-2.

C. The CID Seeks Testimony From Bannon That Is Reasonably Relevant To The
Commission’s Investigation

The standard for judging relevancy in an investigatory proceeding is more relaxed than in an
adjudication. In an investigation, the Commission is not limited to seeking information that is
necessary to prove a specific charge. The Commission may seek to learn whether there is reason to
believe that the law is being violated and, if so, whether issuance of a complaint would be in the
public interest. See Texaco, 555 F.2d at 72; Invention Submission Corp., 965 F.2d at 1090. The
requested testimony “need only be relevant to the investigation—the boundary of which may be
defined by the agency quite generally . ...” Invention Submission Corp., 965 F.2d at 1090 (quoting

Carter, 636 F.2d at 787-88; Texaco, 555 F.2d at 874 & n.26) (emphasis in original).

% Courts have recognized that unfair or deceptive acts or practices involving data security issues fall
squarely within the Commission’s authority. See, e.g., FTC v. D-Link Sys., Inc., No. 3:17-CV-
00039-JD, 2017 WL 4150873, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 19, 2017); FTC v. Wyndham Worldwide Corp.,
10 F. Supp. 3d 602, 615 (D.N.J. 2014), aff’d, 799 F.3d 236 (3d Cir. 2015).
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Furthermore, in evaluating relevance objections to agency investigations, “a court must
respect the agency’s ‘power of inquisition” and interpret relevance broadly.” FTC v. Invention
Submission Corp., No. 89-272(RCL), 1991 WL 47104, at *2 (D.D.C. Feb. 14, 1991) (quoting
Morton Salt, 338 U.S. at 642), aff’d, 965 F.2d 1086. As the D.C. Circuit has explained, “in the
pre-complaint stage, an investigating agency is under no obligation to propound a narrowly focused
theory of a possible future case.” Texaco, 555 F.2d at 874, see also Invention Submission Corp.,
1991 WL 47104, at *2 (agency can inquire “merely on suspicion that the law is being violated, or
even just because it wants assurance that it is not”) (citation omitted). Consequently, “[b]ecause the
need for investigating allegations of unlawful activity is a substantial one, the law requires that courts
give agencies leeway when considering relevance objections.” Invention Submission Corp., 1991
WL 47104, at *2.

Bannon has not contested—nor could he—that his testimony is relevant to the Commission’s
investigation.* As just one example, the Commission is seeking to determine whether Bannon may
be held individually liable for Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive collection of consumer information
from Facebook users. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 113, 9. Testimony from Bannon about his role and
involvement with Cambridge Analytica bears directly on that question. See, e.g., POM Wonderful,
LLCv. FTC, 777 F.3d 478, 498 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (individuals may be liable for FTC Act violations
committed by a corporate entity if they “participated directly in the deceptive practices or acts or had

authority to control them”) (citations omitted).

% Indeed, Bannon cannot second-guess the Commission’s determination of relevance here. The
Commission’s “judgment” that testimony from Bannon would *“aid its investigation” is entitled to
deference by this Court. See FTC v. Bisaro, 757 F. Supp. 2d 1, 8-9 (D.D.C. 2010) (recognizing that
district courts “must defer to the FTC’s judgment as to whether further testimony from Respondent
will aid its investigation,” and ordering respondent to sit for a deposition).
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Relatedly, the investigation seeks to probe Bannon’s knowledge of questions unresolved by
the Commission’s proceeding against Cambridge Analytica: What happened to consumers’
improperly harvested Facebook data? And with whom has it been shared? Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.),
9. Any continued use of the Facebook data would represent a significant continuing harm for
consumers. Id., 1 28. Even if Bannon disavows having such knowledge, this response needs to be
probed through testimony. This information bears on possible continuing harm to consumers from
use of their personal information, which is plainly relevant to the Commission’s investigation. Id.

D. Compliance With The CID Is Not Unduly Burdensome

This Circuit has recognized that district courts may “impose reasonable conditions and
restrictions” on administrative compulsory process when “the demand is unduly burdensome.”
Texaco, 555 F.2d at 881. However, at the same time, “[s]Jome burden on the subpoenaed parties is to
be expected and is necessary in furtherance of the agency’s legitimate inquiry and the public
inquiry.” Id. at 882. It is respondent’s burden to demonstrate that compliance with investigatory
process is unduly burdensome, and that burden is not easily met where, as here, “the agency’s inquiry
is pursuant to a lawful purpose and the requested [testimony] [is] relevant to that purpose.” Id. at
882; see also Linde Thomson Langworthy Kohn & Van Dyke, P.C. v. Resolution Trust Corp.,5F.3d
1508, 1517 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (same).

For over nine months, Commission staff negotiated with Bannon’s counsel to find a mutually
convenient date for an investigational hearing and extended the appearance date to accommodate
concerns about the ongoing global pandemic. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 1 17. During that time,
Bannon’s counsel never argued that it was unduly burdensome for Bannon to appear and testify at an
investigational hearing before the Commission. 1d., 11 14-18. Nor could he, as courts in this District

have routinely held that administrative subpoenas requiring a witness to attend a deposition are not
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unduly burdensome. See, e.g., Bisaro, 757 F. Supp. 2d at 9 (respondent failed to show that
“compliance with the subpoena—which merely requires him to testify at a hearing or deposition
before the FTC in Washington, D.C.—would be burdensome at all, let alone unduly so).

Bannon’s brazen and unilateral refusal to comply with the Commission’s investigational
hearing demand in the CID is premised solely on his indictment in an unrelated criminal action in the
Southern District of New York and his counsel’s decision—before the investigational hearing has
even occurred—that Bannon will invoke his Fifth Amendment rights to every question posed by
Commission staff. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 11 20-25. From that preemptive assertion of Bannon’s
Fifth Amendments rights, and blanket refusal to testify about anything substantive at the
investigational hearing, Bannon’s counsel argues that requiring Bannon to appear at an
investigational hearing to assert his rights is | |||~ Pet £ 9 (9/15/20 Burck
Letter). Not so.

As a threshold matter, Bannon cannot refuse to appear for an investigational hearing simply
because he intends to invoke his Fifth Amendment rights. Courts have long recognized that an
individual’s constitutional right against self-incrimination must be invoked in response to specific
questions; an individual cannot simply assert the privilege on a blanket basis to avoid sitting for a
deposition. See, e.g., Dist. Title v. Warren, 265 F. Supp. 3d 17, 21-22 (D.D.C. 2017) (overruling
objections to magistrate judge’s order requiring individual to appear for a deposition and assert his
Fifth Amendment privileges, as appropriate, on a question-by-question basis); Office of Thrift
Supervision, Dep’t of Treasury v. Zannis, No. 90-0136, 1990 WL 421186, at *3 (D.D.C. Aug. 14,
1990) (enforcing administrative subpoena for oral testimony and requiring respondent to make a

“particularized claim of privilege in response to specific questions” despite “blanket” assertion of his
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Fifth Amendment privilege).® Rather, “the proper procedure is for the [witness] to attend the
[proceeding], be sworn under oath, and respond to those questions he can answer without running a
risk of self-incrimination.” See Hansen, 233 F.R.D. at 668 (noting that witness may assert the
privilege to questions, as warranted, provided “he has ‘reasonable cause’ to believe a direct answer
would result in self-incrimination”); see also 8 FED. PRAC. & PrRoc. Civ. 8 2018 (3d ed.).
Requiring Bannon to invoke his Fifth Amendment rights at the investigational hearing on a
question-by-question basis imposes no undue burden on him. It is well established a witness can
only invoke the privilege where he or she has a reasonable belief that “testimony could “furnish a
link in the chain of evidence needed to prosecute’ him [or her] for a crime.” Warren, 265 F. Supp.
3d at 21 (quoting Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479, 486 (1951)). “The witness is not
exonerated from answering merely because he declares that in doing so he would incriminate
himself—his say-so does not of itself establish the hazard of incrimination.” Hoffman, 341 U.S. at
486; see also Zicarelli v. N.J. State Comm’n of Investigation, 406 U.S. 472, 478 (1972) (the danger
of self-incrimination must be real, not remote or speculative). Such a rule makes practical sense—
without knowing the specific questions to be put to the witness, a district court cannot determine
whether the privilege is being properly asserted to each question. See United States v. Thornton, 733

F.2d 121, 125-26 (D.C. Cir. 1984); Warren, 265 F. Supp. 3d at 21-22 (“[T]here is a presumption

® Courts outside this Circuit have recognized witnesses cannot avoid sitting for a deposition simply
because they intend to invoke the Fifth Amendment. See, e.g., Rutherford v. PaloVerde Health Care
Dist., 2014 WL 12633525, at *2 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 23, 2014) (“Regardless of the extent to which
defendant Hudson may be asked at her deposition for information that may be used in a criminal case
against her, she may not assert a blanket Fifth Amendment objection as a basis not to appear for a
deposition in this case.”); Vazquez-Rijos v. Anhang, 654 F.3d 122, 129 (1st Cir. 2011) (noting that
“while [the witness] certainly had a right to refuse to answer questions on the basis of her privilege
against self-incrimination, it was improper to refuse to appear for any deposition whatsoever on that
basis, rather than refuse to answer specific questions” because “[t]he Fifth Amendment privilege
cannot be invoked on a blanket basis”) (internal citations and quotations omitted); United States v.
Hansen, 233 F.R.D. 665, 668 (S.D. Cal. 2005) (holding that an individual “cannot refuse to attend a
deposition under a blanket claim of Fifth Amendment privilege”).
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against blanket assertions of Fifth Amendment privilege, and the law is clear that the privilege
against self-incrimination must be asserted on a question-by-question basis.” (citation and quotation

omitted)).

Tothe ettt Bannonsuges
I Pt £ 11(9/28/20 Burck Letter), that contention is likewise

meritless. The Commission offered to conduct the investigational hearing remotely. Pet. Ex. 1
(Kopp Decl.), 1 18. It was Bannon’s counsel who insisted that the investigational hearing be
conducted in-person. Id.

The law is clear—if Bannon intends to invoke his Fifth Amendment rights in response to the
Commission’s lawful demand for testimony, he must appear at the investigational hearing and
invoke the privilege on a question-by-question basis. Bannon cannot use the preemptive assertion of
his Fifth Amendment rights to manufacture an undue burden here. Nor can he use it to relieve
himself of his obligation to appear for an investigational hearing pursuant to the CID.

I, Bannon’s Refusal To Appear For An Investigational Hearing Prejudices The
Commission’s Efforts To Enforce The FTC Act And Protect The Public

In written correspondence to Commission staff, Bannon’s counsel has asserted ||
I
_ Pet. Ex. 9 (9/15/20 Burck Letter) at 2. That is not Bannon’s judgment to make, and it
IS wrong, in any event.

Bannon’s unilateral refusal to appear for an investigational hearing until the completion of his
criminal trial impedes the Commission’s ability to enforce its laws and to protect the public. Courts
have long recognized that the Commission and the public have a strong interest in seeing the prompt

enforcement of the laws that Congress has tasked the Commission with enforcing. See, e.g., FTCv.
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Parade of Toys Inc., No. CIV.A. 97-2367-GTV, 1997 WL 688752, at *2 (D. Kan. Oct. 15, 1997)
(holding that Commission’s interest in prosecuting the civil action outweighed the witness’s “interest
in avoiding the dilemma of invoking his Fifth Amendment privilege,” and recognizing that the
“enforcement of consumer protection laws . . . substantially invoke[s] the public interest.”); FTC v.
Am. Tax Relief, LLC, No. CV 11-6397-DSF (PJWx), 2011 WL 13129965, at *1 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 19,
2011) (noting “the FTC and the public have a strong interest in the timely resolution of violations of
the FTC Act” in denying request for a stay pending resolution of a criminal investigation).®

Here, testimony from Bannon is critical to determine whether he has violated the FTC Act
through his role at Cambridge Analytica or his participation in Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive
conduct. Pet. Ex. 1 (Kopp Decl.), 113, 9. Although Bannon claims that there is no testimony he can
provide without infringing his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, the
Commission is entitled to put that claim to the test by asking its questions. Bannon’s refusal to
appear at the investigational hearing prevents the Commission from doing so. Moreover, allowing
Bannon to stall the Commission’s investigation and any potential enforcement action arising
therefrom will have the effect of delaying the important consumer protections that the Commission

may seek following the completion of its investigation. 1d., 1§ 26-28."

® Congress has empowered the Commission—through the FTC Act—to prevent persons and entities
from engaging in “unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce,” 15 U.S.C.
8 45(a)(2), including by seeking permanent injunctive relief, 15 U.S.C. 8 53(b)(2). Where, as here,
Congress has deemed conduct (i.e., deceptive and unfair practices) to be “so offensive” that it can be
permanently enjoined, such conduct “inherently require[s] prompt civil enforcement which cannot
await the outcome of a criminal investigation.” See United States v. Ogbazion, No. 3:12-cv-95, 2012
WL 4364306, at *3 (S.D. Ohio Sept. 24, 2012).

" For example, the Commission’s orders acainst Messrs. Koaan and Nix prohibited them from
personal information and the purposes for which they collect, use, share, or sell such information.
See Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix, Docket No. C-4693, 2019 WL 7168922, at *2 (FTC Dec.

18, 2019) (Section | in the final order against Kogan); Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix, Docket
No. C-4694, 2019 WL 7168925, at *2 (FTC Dec. 18, 2019) (Section I in the final order against Nix).
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CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court issue an

order directing Bannon to comply in full with the CID by appearing—either in-person or remotely

via videoconference—for an investigational hearing within ten days from the date of issuance of this

Court’s order, or at such other date as may be established by the Commission.

Dated: November 9, 2020

Respectfully submitted,

ALDEN F. ABBOTT
General Counsel

JAMES REILLY DOLAN
Principal Deputy General Counsel

MICHELE ARINGTON
Assistant General Counsel for Trial Court
Litigation

s/ Linda Holleran Kopp
LINDA HOLLERAN KOPP (472355)
BRIAN BERGGREN (Appearing pursuant to
LCVR 83.2(e))

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
600 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.,

Mail Stop CC-8232

Washington, D.C. 20580

Tel: 202-326-2267 (Kopp);
202-326-3232 (Berggren)

Attorneys for Petitioner

collected from consumers via the GSRApp and any related work product that originated from the
data. See Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix, Docket No. C-4693, 2019 WL 7168922, at *2 (FTC
Dec. 18, 2019) (Section Il in the final order against Kogan); Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix,
Docket No. C-4694, 2019 WL 7168925, at *2 (FTC Dec. 18, 2019) (Section Il in the final order

against Nix).
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION Misc. Case No.
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20580,

DECLARATION OF LINDA

Petitioner, HOLLERAN KOPP
V.
REDACTED VERSION OF DOCUMENT
STEPHEN K. BANNON SOUGHT TO BE FILED

210 A Street, N.E. TEMPORARILY UNDER SEAL
Washington, D.C. 20002,

Respondent.

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1746, | declare as follows:

1. I am an attorney employed by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”),
in Washington, D.C. | am an attorney in the Division of Privacy and ldentity Protection and | lead
the Commission’s investigation of Stephen K. Bannon, File No. 192 3240.

2. I am authorized to execute a declaration verifying the facts that are set forth in the
Petition of the Federal Trade Commission to Enforce Civil Investigative Demand. | have read the
petition and exhibits thereto (hereinafter referred to as Pet. Ex.), and verify that Pet. Ex. 2 through
Pet. Ex. 11 are true and correct copies of the original documents. The facts set forth herein are based
on my personal knowledge or information made known to me in the course of my official duties.

3. The purpose of this investigation is to determine, inter alia, whether Mr. Bannon,
formerly an officer of Cambridge Analytica, LLC, violated Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 45, in connection with Cambridge Analytica’s
operation of a deceptive scheme that improperly harvested Facebook user profile information for

tens of millions of American consumers.
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4. The Commission is commencing this proceeding to enforce a civil investigative
demand (“CID”) the Commission issued to Mr.Bannon. The CID requires, inter alia, that
Mr. Bannon appear for an investigational hearing before Commission staff. Commission staff and
Mr. Bannon’s counsel met and conferred on numerous occasions between January and August
2020 to find a mutually convenient date for Mr. Bannon’s investigational hearing. Due to
concerns related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the appearance date for the investigational
hearing was postponed several times before ultimately being set for September 29, 2020.
Mr. Bannon, however, now refuses to appear for an investigational hearing before Commission
staff due to an unrelated criminal action in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York.

5. On September 28, 2020, the day before the investigational hearing was scheduled

to take place, Mr. Bannon’s counsel informed _
I
Background

6. Mr. Bannon is the former Vice President and board member of Cambridge
Analytica. Mr. Bannon resides and/or transacts business in the District of Columbia.

7. On July 22, 2019, the Commission filed an administrative complaint against
Cambridge Analytica, a now-defunct data analytics and consulting company that provided voter
profiling and marketing services, alleging deceptive conduct in violation of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 45(a). See Cambridge Analytica, LLC, Docket No. 9389, 2019 WL 6724446, at *1-*2
(FTC Nov. 25, 2019). In 2014, Cambridge Analytica launched a software application on the
Facebook platform called the “GSRApp” to collect Facebook data and survey responses that
would be used to predict the users’ personality traits as well as their political enthusiasm,

political orientation, frequency in voting, consistency in voting for the same political party, and
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views on particular controversial issues. Id. at *3-*5. Cambridge Analytica used the data for
voter-profiling and targeted advertising purposes. Id. at *5-*6. The Commission’s complaint
alleged that Cambridge Analytica employed false and deceptive tactics to harvest personal
information from tens of millions of Facebook users through the GSRApp. Id.; see also id. at *3
(discussing complaint allegations). After further proceedings, the Commission determined that
Cambridge Analytica violated the FTC Act by, among other things, falsely representing that the
GSRApp did not collect any personally identifiable information from Facebook users who
interacted with the GSRApp. Id. at *10-*11.

8. The Commission also sought to bring culpable individuals to account for their
involvement in Cambridge Analytica’s deceptive scheme. Aleksandr Kogan, the developer of
GSRApp, and Alexander Nix, the former Chief Executive Officer of Cambridge Analytica,
settled allegations that they violated the FTC Act in their individual capacity for their respective
roles in the scheme. See Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix, Docket No. C-4693, 2019 WL
7168922 (FTC Dec. 18, 2019) (Commission’s final order against Kogan); Aleksandr Kogan and
Alexander Nix, Docket No. C-4694, 2019 WL 7168925 (FTC Dec. 18, 2019) (Commission’s
final order against Nix).

9. Because Mr. Bannon served as Vice President and a board member of Cambridge
Analytica during the relevant time, the Commission opened an additional investigation into
whether Mr. Bannon may be held personally liable for his role in Cambridge Analytica’s
deceptive scheme. Relatedly, the investigation seeks to probe Mr. Bannon’s knowledge of
questions unresolved by the Commission’s proceeding against Cambridge Analytica
investigation: What happened to consumers’ improperly harvested Facebook data? And with

whom has it been shared?
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The Commission’s CID to Mr. Bannon

10.  On September 24, 2019, the Commission issued the CID at issue to Mr. Bannon.
The CID defines the “subject” of the Commission’s investigation as whether Mr. Bannon’s
“practices regarding the collection and use of consumers’ information from Facebook were
deceptive or unfair in violation of the [Federal Trade Commission] Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and
whether a Commission action to obtain monetary relief would be in the public interest.” Pet. EX.
2 (CID) at 4.

11.  The CID was issued pursuant to Commission Resolution No. 1823036, which
authorizes the use of compulsory process under Section 20 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 857b-1:

[t]Jo determine whether unnamed persons, partnerships, corporations, or others are

engaged in, or may have engaged in, deceptive or unfair acts or practices related

to consumer privacy and/or data security, including but not limited to the

collection, acquisition, use, disclosure, security, storage, retention, or disposition

of consumer information, in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5 of

the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 45, as amended.
Pet. Ex. 2 (CID) at 14. The CID was signed by Chairman Joseph J. Simons, acting under
authority delegated by the Commission in Section 2.7(a) of its Rules of Practice, 16 C.F.R
8 2.7(a), and served by the Commission’s Secretary pursuant to the Commission’s Rules. Pet.
Ex. 2 (CID) at 1.

12. The Commission personally served the CID on Mr. Bannon on November 14,
2019. Pet. Ex. 3 (Process Server Affs.) at 1-2.

13.  After Mr. Bannon was personally served with the CID, Commission staff and
Mr. Bannon’s counsel met, conferred, and communicated regarding Mr. Bannon’s rolling
production of information and documents in response to the CID.

14, Mr. Bannon did not file an administrative petition to limit or quash the CID,

including the demand for an investigational hearing.
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15.  On November 21, 2019, Maneesha Mithal, Associate Director for the Division of
Privacy and Identity Protection at the Commission (“DPIP Associate Director”), issued a letter
formally modifying and extending the appearance date in the CID for Mr. Bannon’s
investigational hearing pursuant to the Commission’s Rule of Practice 2.7(l), 16 C.F.R. § 2.7(l).
Pet. Ex. 4 (11/21/19 Mithal Letter).

16. From January through February 2020, Mr. Bannon answered interrogatories and
produced documents on a rolling basis pursuant to the specifications contained in the CID.

17. Between January and August 2020, Commission staff and Mr. Bannon’s counsel
met and conferred to find a mutually convenient date for Mr. Bannon’s investigational hearing.
During that time, Mr. Bannon’s counsel never argued that it was unduly burdensome for
Mr. Bannon to appear and testify at an investigational hearing before the Commission. Due to
concerns related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the DPIP Associate Director extended the
appearance date for Mr. Bannon’s investigational hearing on several occasions.

18.  On August 27, 2020, following a meet and confer between Commission staff and
Mr. Bannon’s counsel, the DPIP Associate Director issued a letter setting a September 29, 2020
appearance date for Mr. Bannon’s investigational hearing. Pet. Ex. 5 (8/27/20 Mithal Letter).
Although Commission staff offered to conduct Mr. Bannon’s investigational hearing remotely
due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, Mr. Bannon’s counsel rejected that offer, preferring
instead to have the investigational hearing conducted in-person.

Mr. Bannon’s Refusal to Appear for his Investigational Hearing

19.  On August 20, 2020, an indictment charging Mr. Bannon for his role in

defrauding donors in connection with an online crowdfunding campaign, known as “We Build
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the Wall,” was unsealed by a federal court in the Southern District of New York. Pet. EX. 6
(Bannon Indictment).

20.  On September 3, 2020, Mr. Bannon’s counsel sent a letter to Commission staff

claiming that . Barnon
I | <. . 7 (93720 Burck

Letter).

21.  The following day, Commission staff emailed Mr. Bannon’s counsel to request a
meet and confer regarding the September 3 letter. Pet. Ex. 8 (9/4/20 Kopp Email).

22.  On September 10, 2020, Commission staff and Mr. Bannon’s counsel met and
conferred regarding the September 3 letter. Commission staff inquired about the basis of
Mr. Bannon’s objection to sitting for an investigational hearing in light of the lack of overlap
between the Commission’s investigation and the criminal indictment. Mr. Bannon’s counsel
asserted that federal prosecutors could seek to admit Mr. Bannon’s testimony to the Commission
against him under Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b); therefore, Mr. Bannon would assert his Fifth
Amendment privilege against self-incrimination and not testify about anything substantive at the
investigational hearing. At no point during the meet and confer did Mr. Bannon’s counsel
communicate that Mr. Bannon outright refused to attend the investigational hearing. To the
contrary, Mr. Bannon’s counsel indicated that Mr. Bannon could attend the scheduled
investigational hearing and simply refuse to answer questions.

23.  On September 15, 2020, Mr. Bannon’s counsel sent a letter to Commission staff

following-up on the September 10 meet and confer. Pet. Ex. 9 (9/15/20 Burck Letter). Like the

September 10 meet and confer, the September 15 letter ||| G
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Pet. Ex. 9 (9/15/20 Burck Letter) at 2 (emphasis added).

24. On September 22, 2020, Commission staff responded to the September 15 letter,
disputing counsel’s characterizations of the September 10 meet and confer. Commission staff
reiterated its position that, to the extent Mr. Bannon intends to invoke his Fifth Amendment
privilege, he must do so on a question-by-question basis at the investigational hearing.
Commission staff also provided Mr. Bannon’s counsel with the COVID-19 visitor guide policies
for the Commission’s building. Pet. Ex. 10 (9/22/20 Kopp Email).

25. On September 28, 2020, at 2:55 p.m. eastern daylight time, Mr. Bannon’s counsel

sent a letter to Commission staff advising that Mr. Bannon ‘—
I Pet. Ex. 11 (9/28/20

Burck Letter).

26.  Mr. Bannon’s failure to comply with the CID burdens the Commission’s
investigation, forces the Commission to expend additional public resources, prevents the
Commission from completing its imnvestigation in a timely manner, and from determining
whether Mr. Bannon should be held personally liable for his role in Cambridge Analytica’s
deceptive scheme.

27.  Further delays in the Commission’s investigation caused by Mr. Bannon’s failure

to appear for an investigational hearing are contrary to the public interest. Should the
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Commission determine that Mr Bannon has violated the FTC Act, the Commission 1s likely to
bring an enforcement action and seek an order—Ilikely modeled after the orders against
Aleksandr Kogan and Alexander Nix for their respective roles in Cambridge Analytica’s
deceptive scheme——to protect consumers from harm arising from those violations. For example,
the Commission may seek deletion of any data collected from consumers under false pretenses,
thereby mitigating harm from such collection.  Accordingly, a significant delay in the
Commission’s investigation and any potential enforcement action arising therefrom will have the
effect of delaying the important consumer protections that the Commission may seek following
the completion of its investigation.

28. Additionally, any further delays in discovering additional mformation about
where the deceptively obtained Facebook profile data may be located, or with whom 1t may have
been shared, would further harm consumers. Because the deceptively obtained Facebook profile
data pertamns to tens of millions of consumers’ stable personality traits, and may allow entities to
target the consumers or try to influence them in ways that would be difficult for the consumers to
recognize, any further delays that would allow the continued use of this data harm consumers.

29.  No previous application for the relief sought herein has heen made to this Court or

any other.

[ declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

7 :
Executed on November 6, 2020 % Kﬁ%

Linda Holleraﬁd(opp

-80f8-
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Petition Exhibit 2

Civil Investigative Demand to Stephen K. Bannon

(September 24, 2019)
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United States of America
Federal Trade Commission

CIVIL INVESTIGATIVE DEMAND

Stephen Bannon
210 A Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20002

1a. MATTER NUMBER

192 3240

This demand is issued pursuant to Section 20 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1, in the course

of an investigation to determine whether there is, has been,

or may be a violation of any laws administered by the

Federal Trade Commission by conduct, activities or proposed action as described in Item 3.

2. ACTION REQUIRED
[X] You are required to appear and testify.

LOCATION OF HEARING

Federal Trade Commission
400 Seventh Street, Southwest
Washington, D.C. 20580

YOUR APPEARANCE WILL BE BEFORE

Linda Holleran Kopp or other duly designated peraon

DATE AND TIME OF HEARING OR DEPOSITION

NYVz3am O DD om

x]

x]
]

on or before the date specified below.

You are required to produce all documents described in the attached schedule that are in your possession, custody, or control, and to make them
available at your address indicated above for inspecticn and copying or reproduction at the date and time specified below.

You are required to answer the interrogatories or provide the written report described on the attached schedule. Answer each interrogatory or report
separately and fullyin writing. Submit your answers orreport to the Records Custodian named In Item 4 on or before the date specified below.

You are required to produce the tangible things described on the attached schedule. Produce such things to the Records Custodian named in ltem 4

DATE AND TIME THE DOCUMENTS, ANSWERS TO INTERROGATORIES, REPORTS, AND/OR TANGIBLE THINGS MUST BE AVAILABLE

0CT 2 % 2019

&

OO0 om

3. SUBJECT OF INVESTIGATION
See attached Schedule and attached resolution

4. RECORDS CUSTCDIAN/DEPUTY RECORDS CUSTODIAN

Alexender Iglesius / Kevin Havens

Federal Trade Commission

600 Pannsylvania Ave., NW, Mall Stop CC-8232
Washington, DC 20580

5. COMMISSION COUNSEL

Linda Kopp (202) 326-2267

Federal Trade Commission

600 Pannsylvaria Ave., NW. Mail Stop CC-8232
Washington, DC 20580

DATE |ssu57 / COMMISSIONER'S SIGNATURE /0 7 /9 .
INSTRUCTIONS AND NOTICES Yo{BRIGHTS TO REGULATORY ENFORCEMENT FAIRNESS

The delivery of this demand to you by any method prescribed by the Commission's
Rules of Practice is legal service and may subject you 1o a penalty imposed by law for
failure to comply. The production of documents or the submission of answers and report
in response o this demand must be made under a swom certificale, in the form printed
on the second page of this demand, by the person to whom this demand is directed o, if
not a natural person, by a person or persons having knowledge of tre facts and
circurnstances of such production or responsible for answering eact interrogatory or
report question. This demand does not require approval by OMB under the Paperwork
Reduction Act of 1980.

PETITION TO LIMIT OR QUASH
The Commission's Rules of Practice require that any petition to limitor quash this
demand be fled within 20 days afier service, or, if the retum date is less than 20 days
after service prior 10 the retum dale. The original and twelve copiesof the petition must
be filed with the Secretary of the Federal Trade Commission, and one copy shoud be
sent to the Commission Counsel named in ltem 5.

The FTC has alongstanding commitment to a fair regulatory enforcement environment,
If you are a small business (under Small Business Administration standards), you have
a rightto contact the Small Business Administration's National Ombudsman at 1-888-
REGFAIR (1-888-734-3247) or www.sba.gov/ombudsman regarding the faimess of the
cempliance and enforcement activities of the agency. You should understand, however,
that the National Ombudsman cannot change, stop, or delay a federal agency
enforcement action

The FTC strictly forbids retaliatory acts by its employees, and you will not be penalized
for expressing a concem about these activities.

TRAVEL EXPENSES
Use the enclosed travel youcher to claim compensation to which you are entitled as a
witness for the Commission. The completed fravel voucher and this demand should be
presented to Commission Counsel for payment. If you are permanenily or femporarily
living somewhere other than the address on this demand and it would require excessive
travel for you to appear, you must get prior approval from Commission Counsel.

A copy of the Commiszion's Rules of Practice is availablie online at hitpi//bd ly/
FTCSRulesofPractice. Paper copies are available upon request,

FTC Form 144 (rev 11/17)
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Standard Metadata Fields

DAT FILE FIELDS DEFINITIONS POPULATE FIELD FOR:
DoclD Unique ID number for each document All Documents
FamilyID Unigue ID for all documents in a family including parent and all child documents All Documents
ParentiD Document 1D of the parent document. This field will only be populated on child items  |All Documents
File Path Path to produced native file All Documents
TextPath Path to document level text or OCR file All Documents
Custodian Name of the record owner/holder All Documents
AliCustodians :ra;nr::::::; ?;ftu:dizs ut:tea;)had copy of this record (populate if data was deduplicated P,
Source Source of documents: CID, Subpoena, Third Party Data, etc. All Documents
Filename Original file name All Documents
File Size Size of documents All Documents
File Extensions Extension of file type All Documents
MD5 Hash Unique identifier for electronic data used in de-duplication All Documents

PRODUCTION_VOLUME
HASREDACTIONS

Exception Rezson

Production Volume

Redacted document

|Reason for exception encountered during processing {e.g., empty file, source file,

All Documents
All Documents

All Documents

ssword-pr.
PRODBEG Beginning production bates number Documents with Produced Images
PROEND Ending production bates number Documents with Produced Images

PRODBEG_ATTACH Beginning production family bates number Documents with Produced Images

PRODEND_ATTACH Ending production family bates number Cocuments with Produced Images

Page Count The number of pages the document contzins Documents with Produced Images

From Names retrieved from the FROM field in 2 message Emails

To Names retrieved from the TO field in a message; the recipient(s) Emails

CcC Names retrieved from the CC fied in a message; the copied recipient(s) Emails

BCC Names retrieved from the BCC field in a message; the blind copied recipient(s) Emails

EmailSubject Email subject line Emails

Date Sent The date an email message was sent Emails

Time Sent The time an email message was sent Emails

Date Received The date an email message was received Emails

Time Received The time an email message was received Emails

Author File Author Loose Native Files and Email Attachments
Title File Title Loose Native Files and Email Attachments
Subject File Subject Loose Native Files and Email Attachments
Date Created Date a document was created by the file system Loose Native Files and Email Attachments

Time Created Time a document was created by the file system Loose Native Files and Email Attachments

Date Modified Last date a document was modified and recorded by the file system Loose Native Files and Email Attachments
Time Modified Last time a document was modified and recorded by the file system Loose Native Files and Email Attachments
Date Printed Last date a document was printed and recorded by the file system Loose Native Files and Email Attachments
Time Printed Last time a document was printed and recorded by the file system Loose Native Files and Email Attachments

-A3-
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580

Office of the Seeretary

Via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested

Mr. Stephen K. Bannon
210 A Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20002

Re: Inre Stephen K. Bannon, FTC Matter No. 192 3240

Dear Mr. Bannon:

The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC™) has issued the attached Civil Investigative
Demand (“CID™) asking for information as part of the above-referenced non-public
investigation. Our purpose is to determine whether Stephen K. Bannon’s practices regarding the
collection and use of consumers’ information from Facebook were deceptive or unfair in
violation of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C, § 45. and whether a Commission action to obtain monetary
relief would be in the public interest. Please read the attached documents carefully. Here are a
few important points we would like to highlight:

1.

Contact FTC counsel, Linda Holleran Kopp, 202-326-2267, lkopp@ftc.gov, as
soon as possible to schedule an initial meeting to be held within 14 days. You can
meet in person or by phone to discuss any questions you have, including whether
there are changes to how you comply with the CID that would reduce your cost or
burden while still giving the FTC the information it needs. Please read the attached
documents for more information about that meeting.

If you have not already done so, you must immediately step any routine
procedures for electronic or paper document destruction, and you must preserve
all paper or electronic documents that are in any way relevant to this investigation,
even if you believe the documents are protected from discovery by privilege or some
other reason.

The FTC will use information you provide in response to the CID for the
purpose of investigating violations of the laws the FTC enforces. We will not
disclose the information under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552. We
may disclose the information in response to a valid request from Congress, or other
civil or criminal federal, state, local, or foreign law enforcement agencies for their
official law enforcement purposes, The FTC or other agencies may use and disclose
your response in any federal, state, or foreign civil or criminal proceeding, or if
required to do so by law. However, we will not publicly disclose your information
without giving you prior notice.
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Petition Exhibit 3

Affidavits of Process Servers

(Dated November 15, 2019)
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IT OF ERVE

United States of America Federal Trade Commission

In RE: Stephen Bannon Attorney: Linda Kopp
Federal Trade Commission
Vs Division of Privacy & Identity Protection, 600
: Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Washington DC 20580

LTI

*248697%

Case Number: FTC Matter No. 192 3240

Legal documents received by Same Day Process Service, Inc. on 11/13/2019 at 2:58 PM to be served upon Stephen
Bannon at 210 A St., NE, Washington, DC 20002

I, Brandon Snesko, swear and affirm that on November 14, 2019 at 10:45 AM, I did the following:

Personally Served Stephen Bannon the person listed as the intended recipient of the legal document with this Letter
(undated); Civil Investigative Demand; Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") Civil Investigative Demand

("CID") Schedule; Federal Trade Commission - Bureau of Consumer Protection - Production Requirements at
210 A St., NE , Washington, DC 20002.

Description of Person Accepting Service:
Sex: Male Age: 65 Height: 5ft9in-6{t0in Weight: Over 200 Ibs Skin Color: Caucasian Hair Color: Gray

Supplemental Data Appropriate to this Service:

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing information contained in this affidavit is true and correct and that I
am a professional process server over the age of 18 and have no interest in the above legal matter.

Brandon Snesko ’
Process Server

Same Day Process Service, Inc.
1413 K St., NW, 7th Floor
Washington DC 20005
(202)-398-4200

info @samedayprocess.com

Internal Job ID:248697 i N g

fi
1

District of Columbia: SS

Subcribed and ' to before

i ’i" ac y Public, D.C
Mission expires February 2§ 2024
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F F E

United States of America Federal Trade Commission

In RE: Stephen Bannon Attorney: Linda Kopp
) Federal Trade Commission
Vs Division of Privacy & Identity Protection, 600
: Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Washington DC 20580

|

(T

*248698%

Case Number: FTC Matter No. 192 3240

Legal documents received by Same Day Process Service, Inc. on 11/13/2019 at 2:58 PM to be served upon Stephen
Bannon at 210 A St., NE, Washington, DC 20002

I. Rene Rivas, swear and affirm that on November 14, 2019 at 10:45 AM, 1 did the following:

Personally Served Stephen Bannon the person listed as the intended recipient of the legal document with this Letter
(undated); Civil Investigative Demand; Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") Civil Investigative Demand

("CID") Schedule; Federal Trade Commission - Bureau of Consumer Protection - Production Requirements at
210 A St., NE , Washington, DC 20002.

Description of Person Accepting Service:
Sex: Male Age: 65 Height: 5ft9in-6{t0in Weight: Over 200 lbs Skin Color: Caucasian Hair Color: Gray

Supplemental Data Appropriate to this Service:

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing information contained in this affidavit is true and correct and that I
am a professional process server over the age of 18 and have no interest in the above legal matter.

Rene Rivas
Process Server

Same Day Process Service, Inc.

1413 K St., NW, 7th Floor

Washington DC 20005

(202)-398-4200 - -
info@samedayprocess.com -

Internal Job ID:248698

]
District of Columbia: SS

Subs?ri and Swarn to before m
this 5 7ay f M Z(ﬂfgj
/f Vi el
No

K_M&¢k/Notary Public, D.C.
My commissioh expires February 29, 2024
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Petition Exhibit 4

Letter from Maneesha Mithal to Alex Spiro

(November 21, 2019)
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United States of America
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20580

Mancesha Mithal, Esq.
Burcau of Consumrer Protection
Division of Privacy and Tdentity Protection

November 21, 2019

Via Electronic Mail

Alex Spiro, Esq.

Quinn Emmanuel Urquhart & Sullivan LLP
51 Madison Avenue, 22nd Floor

New York, New York 10010

Re: Inre Stephen K. Bannon., FTC No. 192-3240
Dear Alex:

This letter modifies the hearing date for the investigational hearing of Mr. Stephen K. Bannon as set
forth in the Civil Investigative Demand (“CID”) issued to Mr. Bannon on September 24, 2019, in the above
referenced matter. Because Mr. Bannon has not yet produced information and documents responsive to
this CID, I am setting January 15, 2020 as the new date for the investigational hearing. No other aspect of
the CID is modified.

Please call Linda Holleran Kopp at (202) 326-2267 if you have any questions or would like to
discuss these matters further.

Sincerely,
Maneesha Mithal

Associate Director
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Petition Exhibit 5

Letter from Maneesha Mithal to Alex Spiro

(August 27, 2020)
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United States of America
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20580

Maneesha Mithal, Esq
Division of Privacy & Identity Protection

August 27, 2020

Via Electronic Mail

Alex Spiro, Esq.

Quinn Emmanuel Urquhart & Sullivan LLP
51 Madison Avenue, 22nd Floor

New York, New York 10010

Re: In re Stephen K. Bannon., FTC No. 192-3240

Dear Alex:

This letter responds to your request to move the hearing date for the investigational hearing
of Mr. Stephen K. Bannon as set forth in the Civil Investigative Demand ("CID") issued to Mr.
Bannon on September 24, 2019, in the above referenced matter. | have agreed to your request to
move the investigation hearing (“IH”) to September 29, 2020. Mr. Bannon’s IH will begin at
9:00am on September 29, 2020.

I understand that you declined our offer to conduct the IH virtually, preferring instead to
participate in-person. This is currently permissible under the District of Columbia’s Covid-related
rules and our building policies, although you and your client will be required to follow certain
safety protocols. Currently, these include taking your temperature before coming to the office on the
morning of the IH, answering a health-related questionnaire upon your arrival, and wearing a mask
at all times within the office. Mr. Bannon may bring two attorneys to accompany him into the IH.
Please contact Ms. Kopp a week prior to the IH to learn of any new or different protocols that must
be followed for an in-person IH. Please note that we have reserved a large conference room that will
allow each person to sit at least six feet away from each other, although you may sit closer to your
client if you prefer.

Please contact Linda Holleran Kopp at (202) 326-2267 if you have any questions or would
like to discuss this matter further.

Sincerely,

Aot S

Maneesha Mithal
Associate Director
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Petition Exhibit 6

Unsealed Indictment against Stephen K. Bannon in
United States v. Kolfage et al., 20-CR-412 (S.D.N.Y.)

(August 20, 2020)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

e
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : SEALED INDICTMENT
- v. - : 20 Cx.

STEPHEN BANNON, | 20 cr 412
ANDREW BADOLATO, and
TIMOTHY SHEA,
Defendants.
e e M m e e e 4 e 4 - - X
COUNT ONE

(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud)
The Grand Jury charges:
Overview

1. BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and
TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendants, and others, orchestrated a scheme to
defraud hundreds of thousands of donors, including donors in the
Southern District of New York, in connection with an online
crowdfunding campaign ultimately known as “We Build The Wall” that
raised more than $25,000,000 to build a wall along the southern
border of the United States. To induce donors to donate to the
campaign, KOLFAGE and BANNON - each of whom, as detailed herein,
exerted significant control over We Build the Wall - repeatedly
and falsely assured the public that KOLFAGE would “not take a penny

in salary or compensation” and that “*100% of the funds raised
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will be used in the execution of our mission and purpose” because,
as BANNON publicly stated, “we’re a volunteer organization.”

2. Those representations were false. 1In truth, BRIAN
KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the
defendants, collectively received hundreds of thousands of dollars
in donor funds from We Build the Wall, which they each used in a
manner inconsistent with the organization’s public
representations. In particular, KOLFAGE covertly took more than
$350,000 in funds that had been donated to We Build the Wall for
his personal use, while BANNON, through a non-profit organization
under his control (“Non-Profit-1”), received over $1,000,000 from
We Build the Wall, which BANNON used to, among other things,
secretly pay KOLFAGE and to cover hundreds of thousands of dollars
in BANNON’s personal expenses. To conceal the payments to KOLFAGE
from We Build the Wall, KOLFAGE, BANNON, BADOLATO, and SHEA devised
a scheme to route those payments from We Build the Wall to KOLFAGE
indirectly through Non-Profit-1 and a shell company under SHEA's
control, among other avenues. They did so by using fake invoices
and sham “vendor” arrangements, améng other Ways, to ensure, as
KOLFAGE noted in a text message to BADOLATO, that his pay
arrangement remained “confidential” and kept on a “need to know”

basis.
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Background on We Build the Wall

3. On or around December 17, 2018, BRIAN KOLFAGE, the
defendant, with the assistance of others, launched a fundraising
campaign, originally called “We the People Build the Wall,” on a
crowdfunding website (the “Crowdfunding Website”). According to
statements on the webpage for “We the People Build the Wall” on
the Crowdfunding Website, the campaign was raising funds to donate
to the United States federal government for construction of a wall
at the southern border of the United States. The webpage also
stated that “100% of vyour donations” would be given to the
government for the construction of a wall, and that if the campaign
could not attain its goal, it would “refund every single penny.”

4. The “We the People Build the Wall” campaign was an
immediate‘ fundraising success. Within the first week, BRIAN
KOLFAGE, the defendant, with the assistance of TIMOTHY SHEA, the
defendant, raised approximately $17,000,000. Despite its early
success, the campaign also drew scrutiny, including questions
about KOLFAGE’s background and the campaign’s plan to give the
money raised to the federal government for the purpose of
constructing a wall at the southern border of the United States.

5. Based on those concerns, in or around December
2018, the Crowdfunding Website suspended the campaign - which by
that point had raised more than $20,000,000 - and warned BRIAN

KOLFAGE, the defendant, that unless he identified a legitimate
3
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non-profit organization into which those funds could Dbe
transferred, the Crowdfunding Website would return the funds.

6. Around the same time, BRIAN KOLFAGE, the defendant,
involved‘STEPHEN BANNON and ANDREW BADOLATO, the defendants, in
the leadership of the campaign. BANNON, a political strategist
and former media executive, and BADOLATO, an entrepreneur and
venture capitalist, were already working together on Non-Prdfit—
1, which was a separate Section 501(c) (4) organization founded by
BANNON wifh the stated purpose of promoting economic nationalism
and American sovereignty.

7. Within days of becoming involved, STEPHEN BANNON
and ANDREW BADOLATO, the defendants, took significant control of
the fundraising campaign’s organization and day-to-day activities,
including its finances, messaging, donor outreach, and general
operations. Specifically, in or around late December 2018, BANNON
and BADOLATO, working with>BRIAN KOLFAGE, the defendant, oversaw
the creation of a new Section 501(c) (4) organization - We Build
the Wall Inc. - to which they proposed that the money that had
been raised by “We the People Build the Wall” could be transferred.
BANNON, BADOLATO, and KOLFAGE formed We Build the Wall Inc. to
continue fundraising activities relating to wall construction,
with the modified purpose of funding the private construction of

a wall along the southern border of the United States.
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8. Moreover, BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, and ANDREW
BADOLATO, the defendants, made and caused to be made a series of
representations and gave assurances to the Crowdfunding Website
intended to induce the Crowdfunding Website to release the donor
funds to We Build the Wall. These assurances included, among
other things, written bylaws with conflict of interest provisions
and compensation restrictions precluding insiders like KOLFAGE,
among others, from improperly misappropriating donor funds, and a
promise that “Kolfage will take no salary” and “will personally
not take a penny of compensation from these donations.” KOLFAGE,
BANNON and BADOLATO also agreed that donors would have to “opt in”
to having their contribution redirected from the Crowdfunding
Website to We Build the Wall.

The Use of We Build the Wall to Perpetrate the Fraud

9. Beginning in January 2019, BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN
BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendants, caused
We Build the Wall to mislead donors, promising them repeatedly
that “100 percent” of the funds would be used for construction of
a wall and that KOLFAGE, in particular, would take no salary or
compensation from the new organization. Contrary to the
representations both to donors and to the Crowdfunding Website,
KOLFAGE, BANNON, BADOLATO, and SHEA  worked together to
misappropriate hundreds of thousands of dollars of those funds for

their own personal benefit.
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10. Beginning on or around January 11, 2019, and
consistent with the assurances provided to the Crowdfunding
Website, We Build the Wail announced that it had changed its
mission torthe private construction of a wall, and that donors
needed to “opt in” to having their donation transferred to We Build
the Wall for this purpose. In essence, under We Build the Wall’s
agreement with the Crowdfunding Website, BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN
BANNON, and ANDREW BADOLATO, the defendants, had to effectively
re-raise the approximately $20,000,000 they had already raised
from donors by convincing them to “opt in” and thereby permit their
donations to be transferred to We Build the Wall.

11. TO‘ do so, BRIAN XOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNNON, and
ANDREW BADOLATO, the defendants, caused We Build the Wall to
promise donors that “100% of funds raised” would be used toward
the construction of a wall, and that not a “penny” would be used
to compensate KOLFAGE. That promise was repeatedly made in donor
solicitations, public statements, social media posts, and press
appearances by KOLFAGE and BANNON, and others acting at KOLFAGE's,

BANNON’s, and BADOLATO's direction. For example, We Build the

Wall’s website told prospective donors that, “In accordance with
Mr. Kolfage’s personal pledge and the Bylaws . . . Mr. Kolfage
will not profit even a penny from We Build the Wall Inc.” -~ KOLFAGE

similarly and repeatedly promised in fundraising solicitation

emails, which BANNON and BADOLATO reviewed and approved, that he
6
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would “not take a penny in salary or compensation.” KOLFAGE posted
messages on social media that included representations such as:

“We promised 100% of the funds raised on [the Crowdfunding Website]

only go towards border wall construction,” “All money donated to
the [We Build the Wall] campaign goes directly to wallll! Not
anyone’s pocket,” and “I'm taking nothing! Zero.” In fact,

KOLFAGE went so far as to send mass emails to his donors asking
them to purchase coffee from his unrelated business, telling donors
that the coffee company was the only way “he keeps his family fed
and a roof over their head,” because KOLFAGE was taking "“no
compensation” from We Build the Wall.

12. KOLFAGE also touted the bylaws that’We Build the
Wall had ratified at the request of the Crowdfunding Website,
saying publicly and in media interviews, for example, “It states
in our bylaws I take $0 no salary no compensation,” and “I won't
take a penny from these donations” and “It’s not possible to steal
the money. . . . We have an advisory committee. . . . I can’t touch
that money. It’s not for me. We have bylaws set up.”

13. BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, and ANDREW BADOLATO,
the defendants, and others acting at their direction, approved
these statements - which were false - precisely because they
understood and expected that donors would rely wupon these
representations, which were intended to maximize the fundraising

potential of We Build the Wall. Indeed, in developing their
7
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strategy of emphasizing to donors that KOLFAGE would “not be paid
a dime,” BANNON and BADOLATO, in a text message exchange, discussed
how that message would help drive fundraising and opt-ins by prior
donors because it would, as BADOLATO stated, become “the most
talked about media narrative ever” since it “removes all self-
interest taint” and “gives [B]lrian Kolfage saint hood.” For that
reason, BADOLATO insisted that the statement that XOLFAGE “will
not take a pehny of compensation” be included in the email to We
Build the Wall’s donors about the opt-in process, explaining in an
email that this statement was a “material item” to donors.

14. Moreover, in addition to statements that BRIAN
KOLFAGE, the defendant, would not be “paid a dime,” KOLFAGE,
STEPHEN BANNON, and ANDREW BADOLATO, the defendants, conveyed that
others in the leadership of We Build the Wall and its advisory
board (which BANNON chaired) would not be compensated. For
example, KOLFAGE wrote on social media, “I thought it was pretty
clear. I made a promise that. I would NEVER take a penny 100% of
fundraising through . . . donations will only go towards the wall.
100% means . 100% right? Board won’'t see any of 'that money!”
Moreover, during interviews and We Build the Wall events, BANNON
himself stated, “I did this kind of as a volunteer” and “we’re a
volunteer organization.”

15. Donors took notice of this core narrative and told

BRIAN KOLFAGE, the defendant, and others working for We Build the
8
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Wall that it mattered to them. Some of those donors wrote directly
to KOLFAGE that they did not have a lot of money and were skeptical
about online fundraising campaigns, but they were giving what they
could because they trusted KOLFAGE would keep his word about how
their donations would be spent. KOLFAGE also wrote to prospective
donors who raised concerns, assuring the donors in private messages
that he was not being compensated.

16. These false assurances successfully induced donors
to give money to We Build the Wall and to opt in to have their
prior donations transferred to We Build the Wall’s new non-profit
entity. Of the original $20,000,000 raised from hundreds of
thousands of donors, most of the donors agreed to “opt in” and
allow their donations to be transferred to We Build the Wall under
the false premise that “100% of fundraising through . . . donations
will only go towards the wall” and that BRIAN KOLFAGE, the
defendant, would not take any compensation for his work.
Moreover, We Build the Wall continued to raise new funds from
additional donors based on those false representations. In total,
between the beginning of the “opt in” period in January 2019 and
October 2019, We Build the Wall raised approximately $25,000,000
in new or opted-in donor funds, under the false assurance that

100 percent of money donated would go to construction of the wall.
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The Defendants’ Self-Enrichment from We Build the Wall’s Funds

17. Despite these repeated assurances, the public
narrative deliberately crafted by BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON,
and ANDREW BADOLATO, the defendants, and others, was false. In
fact, although We Build the Wall spent money on the construction
of a border wall, hundreds of thousands of dollars were siphoned
out of We Build the Wall for the personal use énd benefit bf
KOLFAGE, BANNON, BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendant.
Indeed, despite KOLFAGE’s numerous public statements that he was
not taking a salary or getting a penny in compensation, within
days of launching We Build the Wall, KOLFAQE, working primarily
with BANNON and BADOLATO, reached a secret agreement whereby
KOLFAGE would be covertly paid “$100k upfront [and] then 20 [per]
month.” Because that arrangement was directly contrary to the
defendants’ repeated public representations, KOLFAGE, BANNON,
BADOLATO, SHEA, and others schemed to pass these payments to
KOLFAGE indirectly from We Build the Wall through third parties,
including entities under the control of BANNON and SHEA.

18. To preserve the secrecy of the arrangement to pay
BRIAN KOLFAGE, the defendant, with We Build the Wall’s donor funds,
STEPHEN BANNON, the defendant, agreed to pass payments from We
Build the Wall to KOLFAGE through Non-Profit-1, which, as noted
above, was controlled by BANNON, with the assistance of ANDREW

BADOLATO, the defendant, and others. In approving that
10
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arrangement, BANNON made clear in a text message to BADOLATO that
there would be “no deals I don’'t approve,” and directed that
KOLFAGE be péid indirectly through Non-Profit-1 in an attempt to
conceal the payments from the public, notwithstanding the fact
that KOLFAGE did no work for Non-Profit-1 and that the.péyments
from Non-Profit-1 to KOLFAGE would be funded by We Build the Wall.

19. Consistent with that scheme, on or around
February 11, 2019, STEPHEN BANNON and ANDREW BADOLATO, the
defendants, caused Non-Profit-1 to pay BRIAN KOLFAGE, the
defendant, $100,000 in funds from We Build the Wall. Text messages
exchanged between BANNON and BADOLATO, and others, confirm the
payment was intended as a salary for KOLFAGE and that the payment
would be funded by We Build the Wall. In particular, in the days
prior to the payment, BANNON directed BADOLATO in a text message

to gend a “wire of cash to [Non-Profit-1]” from We Build the Wall,

)
!

and shortly thereafter Non-Profit-1’s bank account received a
$250,000 wire frqm We Build the Wall. No more than a week later,
that same bank account was used to make a $100,000 wire transfer
to KOLFAGE. In each of the following two months, BANNON again
paid KOLFAGE - each time, a $20,000 monthly salary payment,
consistent with the secret deal BANNON had approved, as described
above - using funds that had been wired into Non-Profit-1’'s bank
account from We Build the Wall shortly before the payment to

KOLFAGE. When KOLFAGE later noted in a text message to BADOLATO
11
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that, at least in part as a result of these pass-through payments,
We Build the Wall would have to disclose substantial payments to
Non-Profit-1 on tax forms, BADOLATO replied, “Better than you or
me lol.” To conceal the payments KOLFAGE received from Non-
Profit-1, KOLFAGE instructed BADOLATO that the payments should be
made to KOLFAGE’s spouse, and Non-Profit-1 subsequently issued a
Form 1099 falsely stating that it had paid KOLFAGE’'s spouse for
“media.” |

20. Thereafter, beginning in or around April 2019, and
to further conceal payments of We Build the Wall funds to BRIAN
KOLFAGE, the defendant, his secret monthly salary of approximately
$20,000 was passed indirectly through other third-party entities
that were purported vendors for We Build the Wall, including one
under the control of TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendant. Starting in or.
around March 2019, SHEA - who had been involved in early operations
of the predecessor campaign to We Build the Wall, and was familiar
with We Build the Wall’s repeated promises that KOLFAGE, in
-particular, would take no salary - proposed, in a text message
exchange with KOLFAGE, paying KOLFAGE and himself out of a “veiled”
shell corporation to conceal the source and nature of the payments.
SHEA suggested that to conceal transactions where, for instance,
“600k comes in and {he]'transfers 300k” to KOLFAGE, they could
“create companies that . . . hired [KOLFAGE and SHEA] . . . for a

service,” 1like “consulting.” To further conceal the secret
‘ 12
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arrangement, KOLFAGE later told SHEA in an email that they could
falsely describe the payments from the new shell entity to KOLFAGE
as for “social media.”

21. Consistent with the scheme detailed above, in or
around April 2019, TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendant, incorporated an
anonymous limited liability corporation (“Shell Company-1”), and
then began receiving payments from We Build the Wall, a share of
which SHEA then paid over to BRIAN KOLFAGE, the defendant. For
example, on or around April 22, 2019, Shell Company-1 received a
$50,000 wire from We Build the Wall, and four days later paid half
of.that amount to KOLFAGE. Again, on or around May 21, 2019,
Shell Company—llreceived a $30,000 wire from We Build the Wall,
and on or around June 5, 2019, paid $20,000 to KOLFAGE. The memo
lines on these payments from We Build the Wall to Shell Company-1
falsely stated, as KOLFAGE had suggested, that they were for
“gsocial media” accounts and pages when, in fact, neither KOLFAGE
nor anyone else had done such work for Shell Company-1. In each
instance, SHEA kept the remaining balances of money. Moreover,
additional $20,000 payments from Shell Company-1 to KOLFAGE, and
funded by money from We Build the Wall, were made in subsequent

months until at least October 2019, when, as discussed below, the
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defendants learned that they might be under criminal
investigation.

22. In addition to the payments above, ANDREW BADOALTO,
the defendant, also arranged for additional $20,000 salary
payments to be made from We Build the Wall to BRIAN KOLFAGE, the
defendant, that were passéd through bank accounts under the control
of two of BADOLATO’s associates. First, in or around June 2019,
and to pay KOLFAGE'S $20,000 salary from We Build the Wall for the
month of June 2019, BADOLATO gave a $50,000 check from We Build
the Wall to an associate (“Associate-1") purportedly for work done
for We Build the Wall. Associate-1 then cashed the check and paid
$20,000 of the funds to KOLFAGE, keeping the balance.
Additionally, in or around late July and early August 2019,
BADOLATO caused We Build the Wall to pay over $150,000 to a
construction contractor (“Associate-27). Associate-2 then paid
$70,000 of those funds to KOLFAGE, another $50,000 of those funds
to BADOLATO, and $20,000 to an attorney working on a matter for
BADOLATO unrelated to We Build the Wall.

23. In total, from the creation of We Build the Wall in
January 2019 to in or around October 2019, BRIAN KOLFAGE, the
defendant, received more than $350,000 in donor funds from We Build
the Wall, all passed indirectly at the direction and with the
assistance of STEPHEN BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA,

the defendants, through Non-Profit-1, Shell Company-1, and the
14
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accounts controlled by Associate-1 and Associate-2. KOLFAGE then
used those funds to pay for his own personal expenses, including,
among other purposes, home renovations, payments toward a boat, a
luxury SUV, a golf cart, jewelry, cosmetic surgery, personal tax
payments, and credit card debt.

24. Moreover, in addition to BRIAN KOLFAGE, the
defendant, STEPHEN BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the
defendants, each received hundreds of thousands of dollars in donor
funds from We Build the Wall, which they each used to pay for a
variety of personal expenses, including, among other things,
travel, hotels, consumer goods, and personal credit card debts, in
addition to the payments described above to KOLFAGE. With respect
to BANNON, in particular, as noted above, Non-Profit-1 received
over 81,000,000 from We Build the Wall; and while some of that
money was used to pay KOLFAGE, as detailed above, BANNON used a
substantial portioﬁ of those donor funds for personal uses and
expenses unrelated to We Build the Wall.

25. None of these payments to BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN
BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendants, were
ever disclosed to the public. Instead, the defendants repeatedly
and intentionally led the public to believe that none of their
donations would be used for the personal benefit of the defendants.

Indeed, as KOLFAGE noted to BADOLATO in a text message exchange,

15
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“[als far as [the public] knowl[s] no one is getting paid” and
“[a]alaries will never be disclosed.”

The Defendants’ Concealment After Learning of the Criminal
Investigation

26. In or around October 2019, BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN
BANNON, and ANDREW BADOLATO, the defendants, and others learned
from a financial institution that We Build the Wall might be under
federal criminal investigation. The defendants thereafter took
additional steps to conceal the fraudulent scheme detailed above.
For example, around that time, and in reaction to the potential
investigation, KOLFAGE and BADOLATO began using encrypted
messaging applications on their phones, and We Build the Wall’'s
website was changed to remove any mention of the promise that
KOLFAGE was not being compensated and to add a statement that he
would be paid a salary starting in January 2020. KOLFAGE also
stopped receiving secret salary payments after this date.

Statutory Allegations

27. From at least in or around December 2018 up‘to and
including the date of the ‘filing of this Indictment, in the
gouthern District of New York and elsewhere, BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN
BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendants, and
others kﬁown and unknown, willfully and knowingly, did combine,

conspire, confederate, and agree together and with each other to
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commit wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1343.

28. It was a part and object of the conspiracy that
BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA,
the defendants, and others known and unknown, willfully and
knowiﬁgly, having devised and intending to devise a scheme and
artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by means
of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises,
would and did transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of
wire, radio, and television communication in interstate and
foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds
for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, in violation
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, to wit, KOLFAGE,
BANNON, BADOLATO, SHEA, and others known and unknown, agreed to
make and caused to be made false statements to donors that
100 percent of the funds donated to We Build the Wall would be
used for construction of a wall at the southern border of the
United States, and that none of the money donated would be used to
compensate KOLFAGE.

29. It further was a part and object of the conspiracy
that BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, and ANDREW BADOLATO, the
defendants, and others known and unknown, willfully and knowingly,
having devised and intending to devise a scheme and artifice to

defraud and for obtaining money and property by means of false and
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fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, would and did
transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, and
television communication in interstate and foreign commerce,
writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds for the purpose of
executing such scheme and artifice, in violation of Title 18,
United States . Code, Section 1343, to wit, KOLFAGE, BANNON,
BADOLATO, and others known and unknown, agreed to make and caused
to be made false statements to the Crowdfunding Website about their
intended use of donated funds and their intent to implement and
adhere to internal controls designed to prevent the
misappropriation of money in order to cause the Crowdfuﬁding
Website to release donor funds held by the Crowdfunding Website to
the defendants.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.)

COUNT TWO
(Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering)

The Grand Jury further charges:

30. The Grand Jury incorporates the allegations
contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 of this Indictment as though
fully set forth herein.

31. From at least in or around December 2018 up to and
including the date of the filing of this Indictment, in the
Southern District of New York and elsewhere, BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN

BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendants, and
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others known and unknown, intentionally and knowingly did combine,
conspire, confederate, and agree together and with each other to
violate Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a) (1) (B) (1)
and 1957 (a) .

32. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that
BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA,
the defendants, and others known and unknown, in an offense
involving interstate and foreign commerce, knowing that the
property involved in certain financial transactions, to wit, wire
transfers and checks, represented the proceeds of some form of
unlawful activity, would and did conduct and attempt to conduct
such financial transactions, which in fact involved the proceeds
of specified unlawful activity, to wit, the conspiracy to commit
wire fraud alleged in Count One of this Indictment, knowing that
the transactions were designed in whole and in part to conceal and
disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, and
the control, of the proceeds of the specified unlawful activity,
in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1956 (a) (1) (B) (1) .

33. It was a further part and an object of the
conspiracy that BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, ANDREW BADOLATO,
and TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendants, and others known and unknown,
within the United States, knowingly would and did engage and

attempt to engage in monetary transactions in criminally derived
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property of a value greater than $10,000 and that was derived from
specified unlawful activity, to wit, the conspiracy to commit wire
fraud alleged in Count One of this Indictment, in viclation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957(a).

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 (h).)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

34. As a result of committing the offense alleged in
Count One of this Indictment, BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPHEN BANNON, ANDREW
BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendants, shall forfeit to the
United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,
Section 981 (a) (1) (C) and Title 28 United  States Code,
Section 2461 (c), any and all property, real and personal, that
constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the commission
of said offense, including but not limited to a sum of money in
United States currency vrepresenting the amount of proceeds
traceable to the commission of said offense and the fpllowing
specific property:

a. Any and all funds contained in FirstBank account
number 2021299187 held in the name of WeBuildtheWall, Inc.;

b. Any and all funds contained in Capital One account
number 3027095806 held in the name of WeBuildtheWall, Inc.;

c. Any and all funds contained in Bank First account

number 18038943 held in the name of WeBuildtheWall, Inc.;
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d. Any and all funds contained in Wells Fargo Bank
account number 3536261401 held in the name of Citizens of the
American Republic;

e. Any and all funds contained in US Bank account
number 103685954630 held in the name of Ranch Property Marketing
& Management LLC;

£. Any and all funds contained in Wells Fargo Bank
account number 3033354584 held in the name of Freedom Daily LLC;

g. Any and all funds contained in PenFed Credit Union
account number 7218209026 held in the name of Brian Kolfage;

h. Any and all funds contained in Bank First account
number 3746617009 held in the name of America First Medical LLC;

i. Any and all funds contained in Capital One account
number 18046276 held in the name of America First Medical LLC;

j. Any and all funds contained in SunTrust Bank
account number 1000212076664 held in the name of White Knights &
Vultures LLC;

k. Any and all funds contained in US Bank account
number 103682158292 held in the name of Timothy Shea;

1. The real property described as a 2019 Jupiter
Marine boat named “Warfighter”; and

m. Thelreal property described as a 2618 Land Rover

Range Rover with vehicle identification number SALGS5RE9JA500442.
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35. As a result of committing the offense alleged in
Count Two of this Indictment, BRIAN KOLFAGE, STEPH%IN BANNON, ANDREW
BADOLATO, and TIMOTHY SHEA, the defendants, shall forfeit to the
United States, pursuant to Title 18, TUnited States Code,
Section 982(a) (1), any and all property, real and personal,
involved in said offense, or any property traceable to such
property, including but not limited to a sum of money in United
States currency representing the amount of property involved in
said offense and the specific property enumerated in paragraph

34 (a) through (m).

Substitute Assets Provision

36. If any of the above-described forfeitable property,
as a result of any act or omission of the defehdants:l(a) cannot
be located upon the exercise of due diligence; (b) has been
transferred or sold to; or deposited with, a third person; (c) has
been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; (d) has been
substantially diminished in Qalue; or (e) has been commingled with
other property which cannot be subdivided without difficulty; it
is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United

States Code, Section 853(p) and Title 28, United States Code,
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Section 2461(c), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the
defendants up to the value of the above forfeitable property.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 982;

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853; and
Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461.)

hudw, Stiaus’

AUDREY RAUS S
Acting Unlted States Attorney
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
- v. -
BRIAN KOLFAGE,
STEPHEN BANNON,

ANDREW BADOLATO, and
TIMOTHY SHEA,

Defendants.

SEALED INDICTMENT

20 Cr.

18 U.S.C. §8§ 1349 and 1956 (h)

AUDREY STRAUSS
Acting United States Attorney

A TRUE BILL

Foreperson.
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Petition Exhibit 7

Letter from William Burck to Linda Holleran Kopp

(September 3, 2020)

Filed Temporarily Under Seal
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Petition Exhibit 8

Email from Linda Holleran Kopp to
Allison McGuire, Alex Spiro, and William Burck

(September 4, 2020)

Filed Temporarily Under Seal
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Petition Exhibit 9

Letter from William Burck to Linda Holleran Kopp

(September 15, 2020)

Filed Temporarily Under Seal
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Petition Exhibit 10

Email from Linda Holleran Kopp to
Allison McGuire, Alex Spiro, and William Burck

(September 22, 2020)

Filed Temporarily Under Seal
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Petition Exhibit 11

Letter from William Burck to Linda Holleran Kopp

(September 28, 2020)

Filed Temporarily Under Seal



Case 1:20-mc-00111-CRC Document 1-3 Filed 11/09/20 Page 1 of 2
CIVIL COVER SHEET

JS-44 (Rev.10/2020 DC)

1. (a) PLAINTIFFS
Federal Trade Commission

(b) COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST
(EXCEPT IN U.S

LISTED PLAINTIFF
. PLAINTIFF CASES)

DEFENDANTS
Stephen K. Bannon

COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED DEFENDANT

(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)
NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THELOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED

Michele Arington, Linda Holl
Federal Trade Commission,

(¢) ATTORNEYS (FIRM NAME, ADDRESS, AND TELEPHONE NUMBER)

Washington, D.C. 20580; Tel: (202) 326-3157 (Arington);
(202) 326-2267 (Kopp); (202) 326-3232 (Berggren)

eran Kopp, Brian Berggren;
600 Pennsylvania Ave., NW,

ATTORNEYS (IF KNOWN)

I1. BASIS OF JURISDICTION
(PLACE AN x IN ONE BOX ONLY)

1 U.S. Government
Plaintiff (

O 2 U.S. Government
Defendant

O 3 Federal Question

O 4 Diversity

Parties in item I11)

U.S. Government Not a Party)

(Indicate Citizenship of

Citizen of this State

Citizen of Another State O 2

Citizen or Subjectofa
Foreign Country

II1. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (PLACE AN x IN ONE BOX FOR
PLAINTIFF AND ONE BOX FOR DEFENDANT) FOR DIVERSITY CASES ONLY!

PTF

O

DFT

O

Incorporated or Principal Place O 4

PTF DFT

O+

of Business in This State

o)

O3 O3

Incorporated and Principal Place O 5 O 5
of Business in Another State
Foreign Nation O 6 O 6

IV. CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT

(Place an X in one category, A-N, that bestrepresents your Cause of Action and one in a corresponding Nature of Suit)

2016 (DTSA)

[] 460 Deportation

O A. Antitrust | O B. Personal Injury/ O C. Administrative Agency O D. Temporary Restraining
Malpractice Review Order/Preliminary
. Injunction
[C1410 Antitrust []310 Airplane [ 151 Medicare Act 4
L1315 Airplane Product Liability . . Any nature of suit from any category
[1320 Assault, Libel & Slander Social Security i
s may be selected for this category of
C1330F L [_1 861 HIA (1395ff) S
ederal Employers Liability case assignment.
[ 340 Marine [ 862 Black Lung (923)
[ 345 Marine Product Liability [1863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) *(If Antitrust, then A governs)*
1350 Motor Vehide L1 864 SSID Title XVI
1355 Motor Vehicle Product Liability E 86S5t ‘:S: (405@)
. er Statutes
|:| 360 Othefr Personal In].ury :I 891 Agricultural Acts
|:| 362 Medical Malpractice .
1 365 Product Liability [] 893 Environmental Matters
3 [] 890 Other Statutory Actions (If
[1 367 Health Care/Pharmaceutical Administrative Agency is
Personal Injury Product Liability Involved)
[1 368 Asbestos Product Liability
. General Civi er, . Pro Se General Civi
®© E. G I Civil (Oth OR O F. Pro Se G I Civil
Real Property Bankruptey Federal Tax Suits [ 462 Naturalization
and Condemnation ppea axes plaintiff or Application
[]210 Land Cond i 422 A 127 USC 158 870 T (US plaintiff PP
[1220 Foreclosure [] 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 defendant) [] 465 Other Immigration
[1230 Rent, Lease & Ejectment ) » [] 871 IRS-Third Party 26 USC Actions
[1240 Tortsto Land Prisoner Petitions 7609 [] 470 Racketeer Influenced
D 245 Tort Product Liability D :iz ?/[eat(lil Penal;zyo b Forfeiture/Penalt & Corrupt Organizaﬁon
andamus ther rorieiture/Fenalty s
[1290 All Other Real Property |- R [] 625 Drug Related Seizure of [_]480 Consumer Credit
550 Civil Rights 490 Cable/Satellite T
. " Property 21 USC 881 1 able/Satellite TV
Personal Propert [_]555 Prison Conditions [ 850 Securities/Commodities/
[_1370 Other Fraud [ 560 Civil Detainee — Conditions [] 690 Other Exchange
|:| 371 Truth in Lending of Confinement . .
[1380 Other Personal Propert Other Statutes L1896 Arbitration
D perty Property Rights 1375 False Claims Act [1 899 Administrative Procedure
amage > [1376 QuiTam (31 USC Act/Review or Appeal of
820 C h
[1385 Property Damage opyrights 3729 Agency Decision
Product Liability [_1830 Patent @) seney - ectsio
D 835 Patent— Abbreviated New D 400 State Reapportionment D 950 Constitutionality of State
Drug Application [ 430 Banks & Banking Statutes )
[1840 Trademark [ 450 Commerce/ICC 890 Other Statutory Actions
[1880 Defend Trade Secrets Act of Rates/etc. (if not administrativeagency

review or Privacy Act)




Case 1:20-mc-00111-CRC Document 1-3 Filed 11/09/20 Page 2 of 2

O G. Habeas Corpus/ O H. Employment O 1. FOIA/Privacy Act O J. Student Loan
2255 Discrimination
[ 530 Habeas Corpus— General [] 442 Civil Rights —- Employment [1 895 Freedom of Information Act |:| 152 Recovery of Defaulted
[1 510 Motion/Vacate Sentence (criteria: race,gender/sex, [ 890 Other Statutory Actions Student Loan
[ 463 Habeas Corpus— Alien national origin, (if Privacy Act) (excluding veterans)
Detainee discrimination, disability,age,

religion, retaliation)

*(If pro se, select this deck)* *(If pro se, select this deck)*
O K. Labor/ERISA O L. Other Civil Rights O M. Contract O N. Three-Judge
(non-employment) (non-employment) Court
[T 110 Insurance
[1710 Fair Labor Standards Act []441 Voting (ifnot Voting Rights 1120 Marine [] 441 Civil Rights— Voting
[1 720 Labor/Mgmt. Relations Act) [1130 Miller Act (if Voting Rights Act)
[] 740 Labor Railway Act []443 Housing/Accommodations [_1140 Negotiable Instrument
[1751 Family and Medical [1440 Other Civil Rights 7150 Recovery of Overpayment
Leave Act []1445 Americans w/Disabilities — & Enforcement of
[ 790 Other Labor Litigation Employment Judgment
[ 791 Empl. Ret. Inc. Security Act []446 Americans w/Disabilities — [1153 Recovery of Overpayment
Other of Veteran’s Benefits
[]448 Education [1160 Stockholder’s Suits

|:| 190 Other Contracts
[1195 Contract Product Liability
[1196 Franchise

V. ORIGIN
® 10riginal O 2Removed O 3Remanded O 4 Reinstated O 5Transferred O 6 Multi-distric O 7 Appealto O 8 Multi-district
Proceeding from State from Appellate or Reopened from another Litigation District Judge Litigation —
Court Court district (specify) from Mag. Direct File
Judge

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION (CITE THE U.S. CIVIL STATUTE UNDER WHICH YOU ARE FILING AND WRITE A BRIEF STATEMENT OF CAUSE.)
15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(e); Judicial enforcement of administrative compulsory process

VII.REQUESTED IN CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS DEMAND $ Check YES only if demanded in complaint
COMPLAINT ACTION UNDERFR.CP. 23 JURY DEMAND: YES I I NO
VIII.RELATED CASE(S) (See instruction) YES | I NO If yes, please complete related case form
IF ANY lE
DATE: 11/9/2020 SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD Linca Ropp

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET JS-44
Authority for Civil Cover Sheet

The JS-44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and services of pleadings or other papers as required
by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form,approved by the Judicial Conference ofthe United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the
Clerk of Court forthe purpose ofinitiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil coversheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed.
Listed beloware tips forcompleting the civil cover sheet. These tips coincide with the Roman Numerals onthe coversheet.

I COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINTIFF/DEFENDANT (b) County ofresidence: Use 11001 to indicate plaintiffif resident
of Washington, DC, 88888 if plaintiff is resident of United States but not Washington, DC, and 99999 if plaintiff is outside the United States.

1I1. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES: This section is completed only if diversity of citizenship was selected as the Basis of Jurisdiction
under SectionII.

Iv. CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT: Theassignment of a judge to your case will depend on the category you selectthat best
represents the primary cause ofaction found in your complaint. Youmay select only one category. Youmust also select one corresponding
nature of suit found under the category of the case.

VI CAUSE OF ACTION: Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you arefiling and write a briefstatement ofthe primary cause.

VIIIL RELATED CASE(S),IF ANY: If you indicated that there is a related case, you must complete a related case form, which may beobtained from
the Clerk’s Office.

Because of the need for accurate and complete information, you should ensure the accuracy of the information provided priorto signing the form.



Case 1:20-mc-00111-CRC Document 1-4 Filed 11/09/20 Page 1 of 3

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION Misc. Case No.
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20580,

[PROPOSED] ORDER TO SHOW

Petitioner, CAUSE
V.
STEPHEN K. BANNON
210 A Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20002,
Respondent.

Petitioner, the Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”), under the authority conferred
by Section 20 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1 and Fed. R. Civ. P. 81(a)(5), has invoked the
aid of this Court for an order requiring Respondent, Stephen K. Bannon, to comply with a civil
investigative demand (“CID”), issued to Respondent on September 24, 2019, in aid of a
Commission law enforcement investigation.

The Court has considered the Commission’s Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative
Demand (“Petition) and the papers filed in support thereof; and it appears to the Court that the

Commission has shown good cause for the entry of this Order.

It is, therefore, ORDERED that, Respondent shall appearat __: a.m./p.m. on the
day of , 20__, for a hearing conducted remotely via video or telephone conference
in Courtroom No. of the United States Courthouse for the District of Columbia, in

Washington, D.C., and show cause, if any there be, why this Court should not enter an order,

subject to the penalty of contempt, directing Respondent to comply in full with the
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Commission’s September 24, 2019 CID by appearing—either in-person or remotely via
videoconference—for an investigational hearing before Commission staff. Unless the Court
determines otherwise, notwithstanding the filing or pending of any procedural or other motions,
all issues raised by the Commission’s Petition and supporting papers, and any opposition to the
Petition will be considered at the hearing on the Petition, and the allegations of said Petition shall
be deemed admitted unless controverted by a specific factual showing; and

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that if Respondent intends to file pleadings, affidavits,
exhibits, motions or other papers in opposition to said Petition or to the entry of the Order
requested therein, such papers must be filed with the Court and received by Petitioner’s counsel
by the day of , 2020. As Respondent did not file a petition to limit or quash
the CID, any response to the Commission’s Petition must demonstrate good cause for the failure
to raise such objections previously. Absent such good cause shown, no objections that could
have been, but were not, raised in an administrative petition to quash before the Commission
shall be considered. Any reply by the Commission to an opposition filed by Respondent shall be
filed with the Court and received by Respondent’s counsel by the day of :
2020; and

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 81(a)(5) and 26(a)(1)(B)(v),
this is a summary proceeding and no party shall be entitled to discovery without further order of
the Court upon a specific showing of need; and that the dates for a hearing and the filing of
papers established by this Order shall not be altered without prior order of the Court upon good
cause shown; and

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 81(a)(5) and its 1946

Advisory Committee note, a copy of this Order and copies of said Petition and exhibits filed
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therewith, shall be served forthwith by Petitioner upon Respondent and/or his counsel, using as

expeditious means as practicable.

SO ORDERED, this __ day of 20

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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